



Strasbourg, 10 April 2019

CEP-CDCPP (2019) 7E

COUNCIL OF EUROPE

EUROPEAN LANDSCAPE CONVENTION

10th COUNCIL OF EUROPE CONFERENCE ON

THE EUROPEAN LANDSCAPE CONVENTION

Report

"A review of integrated approaches for landscape monitoring"

and draft Reference text

Council of Europe Palais de l'Europe, Strasbourg 6-7 May 2019



Document of the Secretariat General of the Council of Europe Directorate of Democratic Participation

Summary

The European Landscape Convention and the Recommendation CM/Rec(2008)3 of the Committee of Ministers to member States on the guidelines for the implementation of the European Landscape Convention states on integrated approaches for landscape monitoring:

European Landscape Convention

Article 6 – Specific measures

... "C. Identification and assessment

1. With the active participation of the interested parties, as stipulated in Article 5.c, and with a view to improving knowledge of its landscapes, each Party undertakes:

a. i. to identify its own landscapes throughout its territory;

ii. to analyse their characteristics and the forces and pressures transforming them; iii. to take note of changes;

b. to assess the landscapes thus identified, taking into account the particular values assigned to them by the interested parties and the population concerned.

2. These identification and assessment procedures shall be guided by the exchanges of experience and methodology, organised between the Parties at European level pursuant to Article 8."

Recommendation CM/Rec(2008)3 of the Committee of Ministers to member states on the guidelines for the implementation of the European Landscape Convention

<u>I.1.</u> Issues covered by the general principles

...<u>B. Recognise the fundamental role of knowledge</u>

The identification, description and assessment of landscapes constitute the preliminary phase of any landscape policy. This involves an analysis of morphological, archaeological, historical, cultural and natural characteristics and their interrelations, as well as an analysis of changes. The perception of landscape by the public should also be analysed from the viewpoint of both its historical development and its recent significance.

····

...

II.2. Criteria and instruments for landscape policies

The fundamental stages in the process leading to landscape action are:

- knowledge of the landscapes: identification, description and assessment;

- definition of landscape quality objectives;

- attainment of these objectives by protection, management and planning over a period of time (exceptional actions and measures and ordinary actions and measures);

- monitoring of changes, evaluation of the effects of policies, possible redefinition of choices.

Participation, consultation, pooling of ideas and approval (between institutions and the population, horizontal and vertical) should be organised at all stages in this process.

Here, the regulatory framework should concentrate more on principles than specific operational methods, which should be left to more technical instruments that can be more easily modified over time (implementation rules, appendices, etc.); they should encourage creativity in the research and experimentation which are already in hand in different states or which form part of collaborative action between several states.

II.2.1. Knowledge of the landscapes: identification, analysis, assessment

Landscape knowledge constitutes the first fundamental stage in a process either of formulation of choices or of the involvement of the stakeholders whose activities influence the landscape; it leads to the establishment of landscape quality objectives and to landscape action.

The various texts relating to the convention and the various experimental practices already being

developed or operational in different European states show a diversity of approach to knowledge production that also reflects the diversity of cultural concepts. However, there is an acute awareness of the inadequacies of the most frequently used theoretical and methodological instruments for operational needs. Too often, they belong to compartmentalised disciplinary universes, while the landscape demands adequate responses within cross-disciplinary time and space constraints which can meet the need for a knowledge of the permanent changes at local level. Approaches include:

- one that may be described as "description-interpretation"; this attempts to meet the requirement for knowledge imposed by instruments and measures for managing territorial changes (general plan, sector plan, landscape projects, etc.);

– approaches that are more analytical and descriptive, relatively independent and having operational purposes.

The term "identification" should therefore be understood in its broad sense as the expression of this preliminary requirement; it is composed of a phase of comprehension and analysis of specific characteristics (description) and a phase of quality problem identification (assessment), which may vary according to the complexity of situations and objectives. The term identification should not be interpreted simplistically nor be limited to an inventory of landscapes but should be linked to the establishment of landscape quality objectives.

Landscape knowledge should be developed according to an identification, description and assessment process, which includes:

- an understanding and description of the specific physical characteristics of the sites in their current conditions, revealing the traces left by natural and human processes and recognising that landscape characteristics result from the action of natural and/or human factors and their interrelations;

- examination of their developmental processes and highlighting the past, present and foreseeable time-related forces due to either human or natural factors and the possible pressures and risks facing landscapes;

- recognition of characteristics and value systems based on analysis by experts or knowledge of the social perceptions of landscape. This knowledge can be gained through various forms of public involvement in the process of landscape policy definition and through analysis of the geographical distribution of the population.

Guidelines for measures should not be too interventionist as regards the methods, stages and stakeholders involved in the process of knowledge production: certain public authorities may provide landscape catalogues or atlases for use as a stand-alone instrument, with bodies having specific responsibility for producing them. Depending on the state, such documents have various titles: landscape atlas, landscape catalogue, landscape map, landscape character assessment map, and so on. These supply a common reference framework and constitute a common language which makes communication easier between stakeholders. Other documents may leave it to the experts to choose whether to use descriptive analysis or interpretative description as the first stage in obtaining the knowledge required by the instruments of landscape policy definition and implementation, depending on the administrative level, scale, objectives and tools (programmes, plans, charters, etc.).

Action should be taken to:

- promote integration of the different knowledge-production approaches to observation of the territory (economic, social, environmental, historic/cultural, perceptive/visual, etc.);

- check that analyses concern the entire territory (which take account of outstanding, everyday and degraded parts) and not only parts or features regarded as significant or exceptional;

– ensure ease of access, clarity and transparency in the organisation and presentation of knowledge, with the particular aim of securing public involvement in landscape policy choices;

- encourage the establishment and availability of landscape databases; these should concern the

condition of places, their past and present dynamics, pressures and risks, and both natural and human aspects of them. Information should be updated periodically, most frequently when changes are rapid. They should comply with nationally, and where possible internationally, recognised criteria so as to encourage exchanges of experience between states, regions and territorial communities at other levels.

II.1. Division of powers and administrative arrangements

•••

In order to make sure that the landscape dimension is incorporated into territorial policies, it is essential to engage in consultation, particularly prior consultation, between the different levels responsible for administering the area concerned (government and local authority departments) and between the different bodies and sectors of the same level (horizontal and vertical consultation).

Consultation should cover both the formulation of general strategies and operational decisions. In this way it will be possible to transcend the unrelated and particularistic interests inherent in a view of quality based only on the protection of specific areas and avoid the risk of different or, indeed, contradictory policies on the part of the various public-service sectors.

At national level, it would therefore be useful to establish permanent consultation processes and procedures and regular meetings between bodies with the most central administrative responsibility (ministries) in order to define and agree strategies and prepare consultation bodies (for example, a standing interdepartmental conference). The same could apply vertically between ministries and lower administrative levels (for example, state-region conferences) and also within the different administrative levels. In addition to these permanent bodies, procedures can be drawn up for collaboration between the different bodies and institutes (public and/or private) specialising in particular national and local problems, especially collaboration between departments responsible for different operational sectors in the regions, in supra-municipal bodies or in municipalities themselves.

Arrangements could also usefully be made for national, regional and local bodies of an advisory and guidance nature to provide assistance to the above-mentioned technical and administrative services (landscape observatories, landscape councils, landscape centres and institutes, etc.). These bodies could be composed of representatives of the administrative authorities, the scientific and professional communities concerned with landscape questions, and associations.

Within its landscape-administration structures and procedures each state should define the criteria for public participation and ways of organising it.

The public authorities should devote human and financial resources to landscape policy: such resources can either be specifically earmarked or come from other sectors (for example, the environment, tourism, public works, culture, etc.), perhaps with the introduction of landscape considerations into the aforementioned sectoral policies.

10. Observatories, centres or institutes

The strong forces surrounding contemporary landscapes and the many problems connected with landscape protection, management and planning necessitate continuous observation and a forum for exchanging information; the creation of landscape observatories, centres or institutes could prove useful for this purpose. Such observatories, centres or institutes would allow observation on the basis of appropriate study protocols employing a range of indicators; they would also allow for the collection and exchange of information on policies and experience. They could be independent or part of a broader observation system.

These landscape observatories, centres or institutes could be set up at various levels – local, regional, national, international – employing interlocking observation systems, and providing the opportunity for ongoing exchanges. Thanks to these bodies, it should be possible to:

– describe the condition of landscapes at a given time;

– exchange information on policies and experience concerning protection, management and planning, public participation and implementation at different levels;

– use and, if necessary, compile historical documents on landscapes which could be useful for

knowing how the landscapes concerned have developed (archives, text, photographs, etc.); – draw up quantitative and qualitative indicators to assess the effectiveness of landscape policies; – furnish data leading to an understanding of trends and to forecasts or forward-looking scenarios. Exchanges of information and experience between states, regions and territorial communities, which already take place, should be based on exemplarity but should always be set against the political, social, ecological and cultural context of the original landscape.

The choice of the composition of observatories is a matter for the administrative bodies concerned but should allow for collaboration between scientists, professionals and technicians from the public authorities and the public.

11. Report on the state of the landscape and of landscape policies

States and regions should draft a report on the state of landscapes in their territories at suitable intervals on the basis of the work of the landscape observatories, centres or institutes. The report should include a policy review in order to check the effectiveness of legislation and action taken. This type of document drawn up by administrative bodies, landscape observatories, centres or institutes or other bodies and/or in collaboration with those different entities could compare what is actually happening in the concerned area with the landscape guidelines and measures implemented, highlight the results, solutions and problems encountered and indicate new directions. The document should stand on its own or be part of a broader report in which a specific section is devoted to the landscape. However, it should not be a substitute for the regular meetings which states should hold for the purpose of implementing the European Landscape Convention.

The 13th Meeting of the Workshop for the implementation of the European Landscape Convention on "Territories of the future: landscape identification and assessment: an exercise in democracy" was organised by the Council of Europe and the Ministry of Sustainable Development and Tourism of Montenegro within the framework of the working programme of the European Landscape Convention in Cetinje, Montenegro, on 2-3 October 2013. The aim of the Meeting was to promote an integrated approach to spatial / regional planning and good governance through the implementation of the following provisions of the European Landscape Convention:

Proceedings: Council of Europe, European Spatial Planning and Landscape Series, No 100. <u>www.coe.int/en/web/landscape/publications</u>

Link to the Programme and presentations:

<u>www.coe.int/en/web/landscape/thirteenth-council-of-europe-meeting-of-the-workshops-for-the-implementation-of-the-european-landscape-convention</u>

The Report "A review of integrated approaches for landscape monitoring", prepared in the framework of the Work Programme of the Council of Europe for the implementation of the European Landscape Convention, by Mr Felix Kienast, as expert of the Council of Europe, with the collaboration of F. Wartmann, A. Zaugg and M. Hunziker and the support of the Swiss Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN).

The Report aims

- to provide an overview of landscape observatories/monitoring initiatives that aim at monitoring the change in the physical and cultural-historical components of landscapes and the perception of landscapes by people;
- to identify the prerequisites of such integrated approaches (theories, data requirements and applicability);
- to prepare a set of criteria for the attention of the Parties of the European Landscape Convention,

allowing them to promote integrated monitoring programmes that overcome the dichotomy between physical and perceived landscapes.

The Conference is invited to:

- take note of the Report "A review of integrated approaches for landscape monitoring", prepared in the framework of the Work Programme of the Council of Europe for the implementation of the European Landscape Convention, by Mr Felix Kienast, as expert of the Council of Europe, with the collaboration of F. Wartmann, A. Zaugg and M. Hunziker; the Report having for objectives: to provide an overview of landscape observatories/monitoring initiatives that aim to monitor the change in the physical and cultural-historical components of landscapes and the perception of landscapes by people; to identify the prerequisites of such integrated approaches; and to prepare a set of criteria for the attention of the Parties of the European Landscape Convention, allowing them to promote integrated monitoring programmes that overcome the dichotomy between physical and perceived landscapes.
- note that important work has been done in recent years by States Parties to the Convention to identify their landscapes, analyse their characteristics and the dynamics and pressures that modify them, and monitor their changes;
- encourage this process by asking the Parties to the Convention to inform the Council of Europe Information System on the implementation of the European Landscape Convention in order to continue promoting an exchange of experiences and methodologies;
- consider and, if appropriate, adopt the draft Reference text of the European Landscape Convention of the Council of Europe *"Towards integrated approaches for landscape monitoring"*, prepared on the basis of the conclusions of the abovementioned Report.

*

Draft Reference text of the European Landscape Convention of the Council of Europe: "Towards integrated approaches for landscape monitoring"

Based on the conclusions of the Report "A review of integrated approaches for landscape monitoring", prepared in the framework of the Work Programme of the Council of Europe for the implementation of the European Landscape Convention, by Mr Felix Kienast, as expert of the Council of Europe, with the collaboration of F. Wartmann, A. Zaugg and M. Hunziker, and presented at the 10th Council of Europe Conference on the European Landscape Convention, Strasbourg, 6-7 May 2019.

The European Landscape Convention states in its Article 6.C.1 – Special measures relating to the identification and assessment description of the landscape:

*

"With the active participation of the interested parties, as stipulated in Article 5.c, and with a view to improving knowledge of its landscapes, each Party undertakes:

a. i. to identify its own landscapes throughout its territory;

- *ii. to analyse their characteristics and the forces and pressures transforming them;*
- iii. to take note of changes;

b. to assess the landscapes thus identified, taking into account the particular values assigned to them by the interested parties and the population concerned."

Landscape assessment covers many dimensions ranging from the ecological to the social and cultural. Therefore, expertise for landscape monitoring is needed from a range of disciplines including geology, ecology, geography, economy, sociology, psychology and history. Some factors, however, appear to be crucial for the successful implementation of integrated landscape monitoring schemes.

1 Use the monitoring type that is appropriate for the local situation

1.1. Indicator-driven approaches with representative scientific data

This approach is only recommended in cases of good availability of landscape-relevant data, which can be generated, e.g., from topographic maps or remote sensing data. An update cycle of two to five years should be guaranteed, otherwise the indicator-based approach is never up to date, due to the time delay. Indicator-based approaches need a sound conceptual model so that it is clear what each indicator measures. When collecting perception-based indicators, including aesthetic landscape perception and place attachment indicators, representative surveys should be preferentially conducted rather than expert-based assessments. These surveys are relatively expensive and may require a great deal of commitment from, and persuasion of, respective stakeholders. This may particularly be the case where governmental agencies are strongly oriented towards biodiversity monitoring and technological aspects.

However, the financial investment required for the surveys includes the costs involved when hiring large pools of experts, as is known from the assessment of landscape character. Furthermore,

indicator-driven monitoring activities do not require a mandatory a priori classification of character areas. As a rule, a rough regionalisation may be sufficient, depending on the purposes of the monitoring. The fact that a priori landscape character areas do not have to be delineated makes indicator-based monitoring relatively inexpensive and flexible. While a range of indicators allows for making policy-specific recommendations for a range of policies, it is difficult to generate a comprehensive overview of landscape-relevant trends, as would be possible through landscape character assessments. Once all indicators have been recorded, the set of indicators can be relatively easily reduced through statistical analysis and expert judgments.

1.2. Comprehensive narratives, partially art- and action-driven approaches

These monitoring programmes are very well suited to quickly reaching publicly effective statements about certain developments in the landscape. Since the approach does not claim to be representative, effective policy areas can be selected and depicted with great attention to detail and through a bottom-up approach. Since generally only photo time series are created, the approaches run the risk of not being taken seriously by politicians, since no 'hard' measurable facts are presented. These approaches are well suited to private sponsors or NGOs, as they offer great potential for mobilisation of the public with regard to landscape-relevant topics. These approaches also have potential to be integrated into larger monitoring programmes as a more bottom-up component that involves the population more directly than, e.g., the use of surveys or panels. Where maintenance of time series is a necessity, burdening volunteers with this responsibility may not be viable in the long term, although there are several examples of highly successful environmental and cultural monitoring schemes that are based entirely on volunteers.

1.3. Landscape character assessments with a monitoring component

The comprehensive landscape description is the unique selling point of landscape character assessment-based monitoring activities and it ensures – in contrast to indicator-based monitoring schemes – that landscape is always seen in a holistic way and not through the sectoral view of many indicators. However, landscape character assessment requires a great deal of previous knowledge and preparatory work to delineate the homogeneous landscape character areas and a large pool of experts are needed to cover the many aspects of the character regions. Landscape character assessment-based monitoring activities require many well-co-ordinated steps (defining the development goals for a region, reviewing the old status with data and expert opinions, reviewing the new status and monitoring the achievement of goals for each region). Society must have an affinity for cultural landscape protection and thus assign a high value to landscape aspects. However, significant changes in landscape character are sometimes difficult to detect, because the character contains a multitude of aspects that are all interrelated. It may therefore take a long time and large changes for landscape character to change significantly, by which time taking corrective action may be challenging.

1.4. Approaches for protected areas

For protected areas there is usually an agreement or a decree, signed by a governmental organisation or a non-governmental organisation designated by a public authority, with financial support and the obligation to monitor the development of the area. Under these circumstances, those in charge of monitoring usually choose the indicator-based approach with representative data collection. This can be seen in most monitoring schemes for protected areas. An indicator approach is also recommended because the size of the area under protection is usually manageable and does not – in most cases – cover entire regions. It could be quite risky to operate a narrative approach with only a few selected topics, as the protection status of an area must usually be periodically evaluated with representative parameters and reporting perspectives might easily change over the years. It is important to consider the place in an integrated way, taking into account the views of the public. In order to complete the monitoring of a protected area on the basis of indicators – often required by funders – it is indeed necessary to know the opinions of those who live in this area or visit it.

2. Endorse the monitoring

If monitoring is endorsed by an official governmental organisation or a committed non governmental organisation designated by a public authority, it is usually less likely to be discontinued. If it is only endorsed by citizen groups there may be a higher risk of the programme being discontinued, even though several citizen-based environmental programmes have been running for decades. Endorsement by an official body facilitates access to policy-relevant administrative bodies and thus helps in implementing the European Landscape Convention, as the Parties to the Convention are states.

3. Seek public participation and encourage citizen science

Public participation boosts motivation, stimulates self-responsibility and helps to reduce mistrust. It contributes to confidence-building, acceptance and identification with the landscape monitoring system. This is especially important for action-oriented bottom-up initiatives. However, participation should not be placed solely on the shoulders of volunteers, as enthusiasm may or may not cease after a few years, depending on the community of volunteers and their dedication. Furthermore, volunteer work is often strongly dependent on individuals, with success or failure hinging on the contribution or blockade of individuals. However, key people as drivers are essential and highly beneficial to the process, especially in the initial phases of a landscape observatory, but also for ensuring continuity and maintaining a high quality of overall volunteer-based monitoring. Approaches based on volunteers are increasingly being used in many different fields and have become known as citizen science. Citizen science is used in some monitoring activities, (e.g., the photo observatories), and it has a large potential that should be utilised even more, whether in the form of uploaded photographs or texts highlighting the perceived landscape character of a region.

4. Inform Stakeholders and the Public

Monitoring activities are usually not among the most attractive topics discussed by politicians or scientists. Thus, it is important that stakeholders are kept informed, that contacts with the media are maintained and that suitable political events are chosen for press releases. In each monitoring programme there will be data that the public responds well to.

5. Willingness to accept a lay view in landscape assessment

This crucial point applies strongly to all indicator-based monitoring schemes. They have the tendency to use expert opinions and judgments and neglect the view of the broader public. This

tendency is most obvious when it comes to judging landscape beauty and cultural meanings. In this aspect, comprehensive narrative monitoring activities on a participatory basis have a clear advantage, as they integrate the view of the broad public in their monitoring concept. Integrating this view can be a success factor when public decisions are at stake, for instance regional or local public votes on the protection status of land. Monitoring of the public perception of landscapes would strengthen many public debates on protected areas and would facilitate coalition-building.

6. Seek collaboration with research institutes

Scientific support is extremely important. It promotes credibility and thus the chances that recommendations are implemented. It is, however, necessary to beware of solely expert-driven landscape assessments. Experts often see their specialist field differently and their judgement can deviate considerably from that of the population, even if the experts may claim to know and represent the view of the population.

7. Promote rapid availability of data

Most indicator-based monitoring schemes use official land-use data, some of which are already dated. The credibility would significantly increase if up-to-date data could be provided, e.g., from satellites with high temporal and spatial resolution.

8. Be consistent with internationally-recognised landscape theories and concepts

If a landscape monitoring programme has a clear theoretical foundation, it is usually better accepted in the scientific community and, thus, in the realm of policy and administration, and indicators or descriptive data are better selected and prioritised. For this reason, the introductory chapters of this report present some basic theories that could help landscape monitoring programmes to establish a theoretical foundation. For indicator-driven approaches, indicators should be promoted that clearly link to broader landscape concepts. Indicator-driven monitoring activities are at particular risk of proposing indicators simply 'because they can be measured' without rigid control of what aspects of the landscape they should measure and in which broader theoretical framework of landscape research they are situated.

9. Use novel social science methods and emerging forms of data to gain information on people's place attachment

Due to recent advances in social science survey methods and the availability of crowd-sourced data, two important trends for modern landscape monitoring can be observed: (a) the breakthrough in the field of representative online panel surveys, which will enable the use of complex survey methods and visualisation techniques and (b) the immense possibilities of the analysis of so-called user-generated data (social media data), to capture the statements, commentaries and pictures of residents concerning landscapes and to evaluate cultural landscape values such as sense of place, place attachment, aesthetic appreciation and recreation. Instead of collecting people's knowledge or attitudes directly, which has the disadvantage of being 'reported' and therefore often biased, crowd-sourced data leads to inferring people's knowledge from their behaviour through digital traces.

Report

"A Review of Integrated Approaches for Landscape Monitoring"

Report prepared in the framework of the Work Program of the Council of Europe for the implementation of the European Landscape Convention

by Mr Felix KIENAST, as Expert of the Council of Europe,

in collaboration with F. WARTMANN, A. ZAUGG and M. HUNZIKER

Mr Felix KIENAST is Professor of Landscape Ecology in the Department of Environmental Sciences at ETH Zurich, Former President of the International Association for Landscape Ecology (IALE) and Member of the Swiss Federal Institute for Forest, Snow and Landscape Research (WSL), Birmensdorf, Switzerland [the ideas and opinions expressed in this article are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the official policy or position of the Institute].

This report was produced with the support of the support of the Swiss Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN)



Photograph adaptation based on Oubachu by Mario Quevedo on www.flickr.com (licensed as CC BY-NC 2.0).

Table of Contents

Introduction

1. Theoretical background

- 1.1. Landscape as an integration of the concepts of space and place
- 1.2. Landscape perception and interpretation
- 1.3. Negotiating landscapes and landscape change

2 The principles of landscape observatories and monitorings

- 2.1. Monitoring in general
- 2.2 Landscape observatories foreseen by the European Landscape Convention
- 2.3 Indicator-based monitoring

2.4 The role of Landscape Atlases and Landscape Character Assessments for landscape monitoring

3. Presentation of selected landscape observatories and monitorings

4 Proposing a typology of landscape monitorings

- 4.1 Assessment criteria
- 4.2 Indicator-driven approaches
- 4.3 Comprehensive narratives, partially art and action-driven approaches
- 5.4 Landscape character assessments (LCAs) with a monitoring component
- 4.5 Approaches for protected areas

5. Key factors for successful implementation of landscape monitoring

- 5.1 Use the monitoring type that is appropriate for the local situation
- 5.2 Endorse the monitoring
- 5.3. Seek public participation and encourage citizen science
- 5.4. Inform stakeholders and the public
- 5.5 Willingness to accept a lay view in landscape assessment
- 5.6 Seek collaboration with research institutes
- 5.7 Promote rapid availability of data
- 5.8 Be consistent with internationally recognised landscape theories and concepts

5.9 Use novel social science methods and emerging forms of data to gain information on people's place attachment

6. Future challenges for landscape monitorings

- 6.1 Light- and soundscapes
- 6.2 Systematic place making and place attachment monitoring
- 6.3 Indicators measuring the role of landscapes for integrating migrants
- 6.4 Indicators measuring the success of legal instruments

Conclusion

References

Introduction

There is a consensus that landscape is a common good [1], very important for biodiversity and people's well-being and also an essential resource for tourism [2]. This makes it imperative to inform policymakers about changes in the physical quality of landscapes but also about how landscape perceptions and meanings change over time [3]. Such monitoring is an obligation for all States Parties to the European Landscape Convention of the Council of Europe.

The latter states clearly in Article 6C of the European Landscape Convention [4], that each party:

- analyses their (landscape) characteristics and the forces and pressures transforming them,
- takes note of changes.

There is a variety of landscape definitions,¹ ranging from ecologically oriented definitions [5] through definitions that highlight the geomorphological land forms of a region [6] to definitions that highlight the artistic [7] or scenic aspects of landscapes [8] and those that focus on the interaction between people, culture and the biotic and physical underpinnings of landscapes [9], [10]. Amongst all this variation, it is a merit of the European Landscape Convention that there is a sound definition of landscape, which is broadly agreed upon and highlights the natural, social, visual and experiential aspects of landscapes. The Convention defines landscape as 'an area, as perceived by people, whose character is the result of the action and interaction of natural and/or human factors' ([4] (Council of Europe, European Landscape Convention, 2000, Article 1a).



Fig. 1: Landscapes are shaped by the interaction of nature and people – the Domleschg valley in Switzerland (photo: F. Wartmann)

This report is based on the European Landscape Convention's definition of landscape that highlights how landscapes consist of physical elements such as mountains, lakes, roads or villages, which are perceived by and shaped by people. Landscape is thus essentially "about the relationship between people and place" [10].

^{1.} A number of definitions of landscape have been reported in the literature. Turner et al. (2001) give a comprehensive overview.

The Recommendation of the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe on the Guidelines for the implementation of the European Landscape Convention, (CM/Rec (2008)3, Appendix 1, 10; II.3.3) considers landscape observatories, centres or institutes as important structures to monitor landscape change, "and to facilitate the collection, production and exchange of information and study protocols between states and local communities". Consequently, there are several landscape observatories, centres or institutes in Europe, with most of them referring to the European Landscape Convention and describing themselves as an important implementing body of the Convention. Some of these structures are public and others have been developed by non-governmental organisations.

A typical example of a landscape observatory in the sense of the Convention is the Swiss landscape monitoring programme (Landschaftsbeobachtung Schweiz or LABES), in which the authors of this report are involved. It explicitly measures both physical and perceived landscape characteristics [11]. LABES is officially integrated into governmental monitoring activities and is constantly evaluated from a scientific point of view.

This report therefore has the following objectives.

- to provide an overview of landscape observatories and monitoring initiatives (mostly focused on Europe, with some particularly noteworthy examples from elsewhere) that aim to monitor (a) the change in the physical and cultural-historical components of landscapes and (b) the perception of landscapes by people. Special attention will be given to approaches that cover both aspects, as they are key to fulfilling the monitoring requirements of the Convention;
- to identify the prerequisites of such integrated approaches (theories, data requirements and applicability);
- to prepare a set of criteria for successful implementation for the parties of the Convention, allowing them to initiate regionally-adapted integrated monitoring programmes that overcome the dichotomy between physical and perceived landscapes.

In this report the terms "landscape monitoring programme" and landscape observatory, centres or institutes are indifferently used. It is, however, acknowledged, that the term observatory has generally a broader meaning than monitoring and implies a participatory and even action-oriented component that goes beyond the classical policy evaluation of monitoring. Furthermore, the examples and case studies covered in this report form a set of approaches carefully selected to show major types and trends and to derive recommendations, but they do not by any means include all the approaches that exist in Europe.

1. Theoretical background

Some theories and concepts on the relations between populations and landscape will be presented below, ranging from concepts of space and place (section 1.1) through landscape perception and interpretation (section 1.2) to processes of negotiating landscapes and landscape change (section 1.3).

1.1. Landscape as an integration of the concepts of space and place

The comprehensive definition of landscape in the European Landscape Convention is compatible with

CEP-CDCPP (2019) 7E

the concept of space and place that has been advocated by various scholars, (e.g., [12] Hunziker, Buchecker and Hartig). The space component concerns biotic and abiotic elements of landscapes (natural and man-made) and builds an essential basis for the way people perceive and interact with landscapes [9]. The place component emphasises the individual and cultural connections of people with landscapes and particular places [13]-[17]. The interaction between these two components of (1) space as the environmental configuration and physical characteristics of landscape and (2) cultural notions and how people perceive and interact with landscape, is illustrated in

Fig. 2.



Fig. 2: The space and place concept [12]

At the top is the physical environment, which can be conceptualised as 'space', represented primarily by physical elements such as urban fabric, infrastructure, agricultural fields, roads and so on. These physical components are frequently overwhelmingly present in landscape monitoring [3]. They are usually well understood and are covered in the landscape ecology literature as well as through the ecosystem service framework [18]-[22]. The other half of the figure illustrates the concept of place with respect to landscape, which focuses on how people assign cultural, social or individual meanings to landscape elements and how these are shared among groups of people [9], [13]-[16], [23]. In the current ecosystem service literature, this aspect is considered to be covered by cultural ecosystem services [24], [25], where recreational values, aesthetic values or sense of place are assessed [26]-[30].



Fig. 3: Particular places and landscape elements contribute to people's identity –

traditional building style in Marthalen, Switzerland (photo: F.Wartmann)

In environmental psychology, place meaning and place attachment are studied with respect to how they support the formation and maintenance of the identities of individuals and societal groups [31]-[35], with landscape being considered an important pillar in the identity-building process [36]. There is considerable debate in the literature about different theoretical concepts. Generally, place identity is defined as that part of our identity that relates to place [37]. More specific conceptualisations of place identity include the notion of 'place-referent continuity', the process by which people maintain the continuity of their identity via specific places that are of emotional significance to them, such as particular landscape elements or buildings and 'place-congruent continuity', as the generic and transferable characteristics of places, (e.g., mountains) that help maintain continuity [38].

The process that leads from space to place is often referred to as 'place-making', i.e., the societal construction of place. This depends on (a) how people perceive and interpret the physical environment and (b) how they socially integrate into the neighbourhood and local community. It is broadly accepted that both components are influenced by length of residency [35]. Research shows that place attachment is a key component of well-being, involving feelings of safety, belonging, control, self-esteem and meaningful life [39]. The process of assigning meanings to landscapes, where place meanings represent cognitions that individuals or groups associate with an area, has been described for various settings in the literature [40], [41]. Based on these bonds between individuals and societies and landscapes, change that results in disruptions to place and place identity can have severe impacts on individuals and local communities [42], [43].

1.2. Landscape Perception and Interpretation

In order for space to become place, as illustrated in Fig. 2, people must first perceive the landscape. Research on landscape perception is embedded in well-known theoretical concepts of perception [12], [44]-[46]. In the literature, three pillars are distinguished that are described as governing landscape perception: (1) a universal/biological/evolutionary pillar, (2) a sociocultural pillar and (3) an individual pillar. The universal/biological/evolutionary pillar is based on theories such as the savanna theory [47], [48], the prospect-refuge theory [49] and information processing theory [46]. These theories claim that a certain part of people's behaviour is universal, as it is biologically/evolutionarily determined. However, there is also empirical evidence for cultural variation in landscape preferences [50], and thus the importance of pillar 1 for landscape perception is currently being debated [51]. The research in pillar 2 suggests that landscape experience is the result of cultural influences and agreements, while pillar 3 is based on the notion that individual attitudes and preferences, but also individual factors such as preferred outdoor activities, shape the perception of landscapes [52]-[54]. Landscape elements that are perceived and interpreted in a cultural context create the unique setting or the landscape character of a given area, which is discussed in more detail in section 4.4.



Fig. 4: The preferred type of outdoor activity can influence the individual way a landscape is perceived – ski slope at Heinzenberg, Switzerland (photo: S. Gosteli)

1.3. Negotiating landscapes and landscape change

Individuals, groups or entire societies fulfil their needs and determine their demands on landscapes, which are – in the ideal case – then communicated via multiple forms of negotiation into planning action. It is observed that these negotiations go far beyond functional aspects and are increasingly centred around place meanings, involving societal discourses on lifestyles [55]. Negotiation processes differ widely, depending on the planning culture of a region. They may be top-down approaches, where planning action is delegated to technical experts trying to fulfil the demands of the population, though many countries have institutionalised forms of bottom-up participation [56]. Alternatively, there is a wide range of spontaneous self-organised planning processes, where citizens initiate planning activities individually, exemplified in cities that are said to have become unplannable [57], [58].



Fig. 5: Landscapes are continuously changing and being reshaped. Landscape monitoring aims to capture such changes and inform policy-making and planning – industrial area in Thusis (photo: F. Wartmann)

All forms of shaping the landscape – whether organised or spontaneous – lead to changes in land use, which can be oriented more towards the space aspect in Fig. 2. Numerous monitoring programmes, e.g., CORINE, are concerned with land-*use* changes. These types of monitoring are highly important for monitoring the changes in landscapes. However, due to their strict focus on land *use*, they are not covered in this report.

2. The Principles of Landscape Observatories and Landscape Monitoring

This chapter intends to provide an overview of the conceptual basis of monitoring, before focusing on monitoring as envisaged by the European Landscape Convention. Finally, we zoom in on indicator-based monitoring as a widespread approach to landscape monitoring.

2.1. Monitoring in general

Monitoring in the very strict and classical sense should be part of any comprehensive national or international environmental policy evaluation procedure that ultimately leads to adaptive management. Adaptive management is the incremental improvement of environmental status by continuously reducing the differences between output and environmental policy goals [59]. Fig. 6 illustrates this adaptive management process in the so-called MER cycle (monitoring, evaluation, reporting). The cycle starts with strategic planning goals or environmental policy objectives (upper left), followed by activities. These activities manifest themselves in a certain output or effect/outcome, e.g., a change in land use. Subsequently, the outputs and/or outcomes are measured by means of monitoring (upper right) and compared with the intended targets (lower centre). Reporting provides decision makers with the information they need to make any necessary changes to strategic planning or environmental policy. In accordance with European Environmental Agency [60], various evaluation and evidence collection methods should be applied, in order to base the reporting on as much knowledge as possible. This includes, e.g., cost-benefit analyses, environmental monitoring or literature reviews and indicator analysis or modelling. This MER approach fits well for relatively technocratic approaches in fields such as air pollution or water purification.



Fig. 6: The monitoring-evaluation-reporting (MER) cycle. Modified [61]

However, in the context of policies or projects dealing with landscapes and landscape change, the classic MER cycle might fall short, because:

"the ultimate goals [of landscape development] are often not easily defined. These goals will be long term and influenced by many forces that may be outside the control of those driving the landscape process [59]."

Consequently, Sayer et al. [59] outline a "theory of change" to trace the relationship between an intervention and its ultimate impact and importantly, they explicitly address the need to negotiate stakeholder demands and planning goals with a management coalition. The latter sets goals that are reviewed using suitable indicators. The biggest refinement of Sayer's 'theory of change' is therefore the participatory character of both the planning negotiation and monitoring activities of the MER cycle.

2.2 Landscape Observatories envisaged by the European Landscape Convention

Currently, considerable efforts can be observed in the landscape research community to develop monitoring tools that fit a holistic definition of landscape and are really concerned with landscape and not exclusively with land use. This is indeed necessary, because land-use/land-cover monitoring programmes such as CORINE detect how the composition of the landscape is changing, but they do not allow us to assess how these changes affect how landscapes are perceived. Commonly, landscape monitoring relies heavily on land-use/land-cover monitoring and the corresponding data are usually accessible for the derivation of indicators [3]. However, ideally, landscape monitoring programmes should derive indicators that measure specific landscape properties.

As exemplified in the recommendation R (2008) 3, landscape observatories are envisaged as the primary means of "taking note of change". These landscape observatories, centres or institutes can be set up at various levels – local, regional, national or international – employing interlocking observation systems and providing the opportunity for ongoing exchanges. With these bodies, it should be possible to:

- describe the condition of landscapes at a given time,
- exchange information on policies and experiences concerning protection, management and planning, public participation and implementation at different levels,
- use and, if necessary, compile historical documents on landscapes which could be useful for understanding how the landscapes concerned have developed (archives, text, photographs, etc.),
- draw up quantitative and qualitative indicators to assess the effectiveness of landscape policies,
- furnish data leading to an understanding of trends and to forecasts or forward-looking scenarios (recommendation R (2008) 3).

As stated under ii) and discussed later in this report, many observatories have – in addition to the task of being information platforms – also an active transdisciplinary role. In this role they initiate or facilitate participation or the landscape-related actions of inhabitants. As well as the landscape observatories, centres or institutes, the European Landscape Convention also recommends programmes that are mostly centred around specific topics or are initiated for a limited time.



Fig. 7: To "take note of changes" and fulfil the landscape monitoring recommendation R (2008) 3, it is necessary to distinguish between observatories, centres, institutes and programmes. Their institutional embedding, themes and spatial coverage vary greatly (information from Mrs M Déjeant-Pons, written communication).

2.3 Indicator-Based Monitoring

Indicators are at the heart of many monitoring activities [3]. Indicators are simple and reliable ways to measure complex processes [62]. One can distinguish between 'umbrella' indicators, which aggregate many processes into one measure and specific indicators, which are representative for one process only. For instance, an indicator about light pollution is merely an 'umbrella' indicator, measuring many processes such as urbanisation, land abandonment or remoteness, without being able to distinguish between the processes, whereas an indicator about 'publicly accessible rivers' is a specific indicator, measuring the recreation potential of an important landscape element [11]. Generally, an indicator produces quantified information to help actors in interventions to communicate, negotiate and make decisions (European Commission 1999 in [63]). It is commonly accepted that indicators play a major role in policy evaluations and there is a substantial literature on indicator selection [64].



Fig. 8: Landscape indicators can produce impartial information that helps stakeholders to discuss and make decisions about landscape interventions (revitalisation of a river in Fribourg, Switzerland). (photo: S.Gosteli)

Excellent overviews are given by, e.g., Hasund [64] and Sand, Miller and Ode [65]. Many indicatorbased analyses select indicators according to the driving force-pressure-state-impact-response framework DPSIR, used by the European Environmental Agency [66], [67]. As a rule of thumb, indicators should be comprehensive without being exhaustive or redundant. A large number of indicators should therefore always be checked for redundancy. Further requirements for indicators are that they:

- are measurable and sensitive to external change [68];
- exhibit a potential for long-term measurement [3];
- are representative for a process and a specific geographical region [62], [69];
- are embedded in financially feasible frameworks to reduce the risk of incomplete temporal and spatial coverage due to potential financial cuts [3].

Importantly, there are also equally valid landscape observatories that are *not* based on strict spatio-temporal indicator sets but rather on data assembled in an ad hoc way.

2.4 The Role of Landscape Atlases and Landscape Character Assessments in landscape monitoring

Any landscape monitoring, whether it is under the umbrella of an observatory, a centre, an institute or a programme, is dependent on a broad knowledge and description of the landscape types in the region or territory covered. This knowledge must be assembled prior to any identification of, e.g., landscape indicators or methods of monitoring. There is a broad tradition in geography of describing landscapes from both a cultural and a natural point of view. Paul Vidal de la Blache (1845-1918) and Carl Otwin Sauer (1889-1975) are excellent representatives of the discipline of "regional geography" that lays the foundations for scientifically sound landscape descriptions. More recently, i.e., after 1950, French and German geographers, such as Georges Bertrand, Thierry Brossard, Carl Troll and Wolfgang Haber, emphasised the use of "landscape" in the context of spatial planning and the protection of cultural landscapes.

In the 1990s the UK Countryside Agency launched several activities to establish the methodology of landscape character assessment, an attempt to describe landscapes with similar properties for the sake of planning and protecting the cultural and natural heritage. In 2002, the Countryside Agency and Scottish Natural Heritage published a remarkable tool – later referred to as a landscape character assessment (LCA) – to "help us to understand and articulate the character of the landscape. It helps us identify the features that give a locality its 'sense of place' and pinpoints what makes it different from neighbouring areas" [70]. This tool of LCA has been re-evaluated numerous times and forms an excellent instrument for a broad and holistic but still reproducible description of landscapes in specific regions [71]. In 2005, an effort was made by the Fifth European Union Framework Programme on Energy, Environment and Sustainable Development, to obtain an overview of LCA activities in Europe. The corresponding report [72] was for a long time one of the best references. This report was followed by an excellent handbook on landscape character assessment [73]. It describes how LCAs are applied in numerous countries, such as the UK and Ireland but also Sweden, Croatia, Cyprus, Turkey or Portugal, where a core knowledge is built for use in later landscape monitoring.

Work has also been carried out within the framework of the Ministry of the Environment of France, which is the basis of the Landscape Atlas methodology. This method makes it possible to identify landscape units, areas of various sizes, but with similar characteristics in terms of landscape. The landscape atlases have a stronger link to landscape architecture and spatial planning than the LCAs. More and more landscape atlases incorporate a strong bottom-up landscape perception component [74]. The methodology of landscape atlases developed in many departments of France. In Belgium, Wallonia and Flanders have also developed Landscape Atlases [75]. An excellent methodological overview is given in [76], stressing the need for updating the landscape atlases every 10 years. This would then indeed be a form of landscape monitoring similar to the Countryside Quality Counts (CQC) programme reported here. However, as reported in [74], there seems to be a delay in both production and updating due to the time-consuming nature of the process. Nevertheless, landscape atlases could be a main input for many landscape monitoring initiatives described in this report.

3. Presentation of selected landscape observatories and monitoring initiatives

In order to present the current state of the art of landscape monitoring, a selection of existing monitoring initiatives are presented based on the following resources: (1) previous overviews such as that of Cassatella and Peano [3], which is probably the most comprehensive review of indicator-based approaches at the European and regional level, (2) a survey of European landscape observatories [77], (3) a search in the Web of Science database with the keywords "landscape", "observatory", "monitoring", "indicators" and "perceive", (4) Internet searches, (5) personal communications and (6) information given in the public list of the European Landscape Convention online [78]. The list of monitoring initiatives (Table 1) is not complete but rather is a representative sample, which is well suited to extracting major trends in the current monitoring debate. It must be noted that the precursors of many monitoring initiatives are landscape character assessments or atlases. Quite frequently they represent some kind of monitoring, as some of them are repeated over time and thus describe the landscape at different points in time. Nevertheless, most of them were not designed as monitoring programmes in the strict sense of the term. Excellent atlas and landscape character studies have been reported in France and Belgium, (e.g., in the atlas de paysage of France and Belgium, etc.) but also in the UK, Serbia, Andorra, Andalusia and Galicia. In our report, all

purely land-cover/land-use-related monitoring schemes are excluded but we are well aware that these play an important role in delivering physical and land-use-related basic data for landscape assessments. The great effort by monitoring activities such as CORINE or the Harmonised European Land Monitoring (HELM) programme is, however, recognised. Without these monitoring initiatives neither quantitative statements about the physical and land-use-related landscape resources nor spatial extrapolations of empirically derived landscape preferences, e.g., in the form of preference maps, would be possible.

The observatories are presented in geographical order from north to south, starting in the UK, through Northern, Eastern and Central Europe to Southern Europe. Three observatories from outside Europe are included (Peru, New Zealand and Australia), together with three monitoring initiatives of protected areas such as national parks or landscape protection zones.

Table 1: Selection of landscape observatories and monitoring initiatives. The name of the monitoring initiative is given in bold, and – if not self-explanatory or too long – also the abbreviation used in Fig. 13 and Fig. 15

United Kingdom

Countryside Quality Counts (abbreviation in this report: CQC England)

In 2002 the Countryside Agency and Scottish Natural Heritage published a remarkable tool – later referred to as a landscape character assessment (LCA) - to 'help us to understand and articulate the character of the landscape. It helps us identify the features that give a locality its 'sense of place' and pinpoints what makes it different from neighbouring areas' [70]. LCAs have been applied in numerous circumstances in England, Scotland and elsewhere. LCAs help to involve communities and people in defining and describing their landscapes via well-established official tools. The core of the LCA is a relatively value-free characterisation of landscape character types with maps, perceptual qualities, photographs and land-use/land-cover data, which is assembled by peers or local representatives involved in landscape issues. Each landscape character assessment has a clearly defined scope. An LCA often results in maps delineating the homogenous landscape character areas. The monitoring instrument of the Countryside Quality Counts (CQC) scheme is a logical continuation of LCAs with a temporal component. Based on the national landscape character areas (NCAs), the project assessed the changes in landscape character for England for the two periods 1990-1998 and 1999-2003, based on extensive studies of data, maps and photographs and on expert interviews. For the first assessment of change (1990-1998) a series of eight regional consultations were undertaken in the autumn of 2003. Local knowledge was sought from various expert stakeholders who were asked to consider the adequacy and accuracy of the statements of change found in the original landscape character descriptions. They were then asked to review the associated statistical and geographical information and reach a conclusion on the significance of the change for landscape character as represented by these data. It was through the consultation exercise that the judgment of change and its significance was partly determined. For the first assessment, landscape character areas were classified as experiencing:

marked change inconsistent with character;

- some change inconsistent with character;
- limited or no change consistent with character.

The second assessment of change expanded the evidence base and placed even greater emphasis on consultation with local stakeholders (particularly the professional landscape community), thereby greatly increasing the robustness and acceptability of the context.

Web Resources: [70]

Landscape Character Study, Cornwall (abbreviation in this report: Cornwall)

The landscape character study in Cornwall was carried out in 2005-2007 and funded by Cornwall County Council (and others). Strictly speaking it is an updated landscape assessment and not landscape monitoring per se. However, as it has been carried out twice (once in 1994 and once in 2007) it can be seen as landscape monitoring. The goal of the assessment is to guide the development of landscape policies and strategies. Therefore, for each landscape area (40 character areas) a report is available on the Internet, describing ecological and social aspects of the landscape and its development (biodiversity, geology, land use, settlements, historic features and aesthetics) [79].



Fig. 9: Historic traces in the landscape are a part of the landscape characters in Cornwall – *old Cornish farm* by Mathias Liebing on <u>www.flickr.com</u> (licensed as CC BY-NC 2.0)

Web Resources: [79], [80]

Norway

Landscape Monitoring (abbreviation in this report: Norway)

3Q is the national monitoring programme of Norway established in 1998 and organised by the Norwegian Institute of Bioeconomy Research (NIBIO). It is based on 1,000 randomly selected 1 x 1 km squares containing farmland. It analyses the entire agricultural landscape and is designed to measure the effects of policies. To this end, the land use, biological diversity, cultural heritage and accessibility are surveyed using indicators. Methods include GIS analysis of aerial photographs and other data, landscape photography, field registration of biological diversity and cultural heritage

sites, questionnaires and interview surveys and analysis of documents and statistical data. The programme is scientifically evaluated and aims at linking physical landscape appearance with the perception of landscapes through the use of landscape metrics and photos presented to locals and students. Dramstad et al. [81] found "significant positive correlations between preferences and spatial metrics, including number of land types, number of patches and land type diversity. In addition, preference scores were high where water was present within the mapped image area, even if the water itself was not visible in the images." In addition to the landscape perception aspect, Norway also runs a scientific historical photo documentation scheme on landscape changes (see [82]).

Web Resources: [82]-[84]

Finland

Finnish Landscape Observatory (abbreviation in this report: Finland)

The Landscape Observatory of Finland is a recent activity led by Aalto University. The concept of the landscape observatory is based on the European Landscape Convention and follows the recommendations of the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe. With a comprehensive narrative (social and economic) view of the landscape, a proactive system of landscape planning should be reached. The Landscape Observatory of Finland is still in its early stages and the types of data that will be collected are not yet fully defined, but the aim will be to establish an indicator-driven monitoring system with representative data for the whole of Finland. Finland has an excellent environmental monitoring system (SYKE, [85]). However, landscape is not covered in their monitoring priorities. There is already an excellent overview of Finish landscape areas run by environment.fi ([86]), together with outstanding photo documentation ([85]). Activities planned for the landscape observatory thus seem an ideal complement to existing environmental monitoring.

Web Resources: [87]-[90]

Sweden

NILS (abbreviation in this report: Sweden)

The Environmental Monitoring and Assessment of Sweden, EMA, is led by the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences and is funded by the Swedish Government. It is organised into 10 different programmes (forest, agricultural landscape, lakes and watercourses, costal and sea areas, built environment, climate, biodiversity, eutrophication, acidification and non-toxic environment) [91].



Fig. 10: Agricultural landscapes are a focus landscape type for the NILS project in Sweden – "Beautiful Skåne Countryside" by Robin on <u>www.flickr.com</u> (licensed as CC BY-NC 2.0)

For analysing the agricultural landscape sector, for example, the national inventory of landscapes in Sweden's NILS was launched in 2003. NILS is conducted as a sample-based stratified inventory in which aerial photographs are interpreted and combined with a field inventory. Within five years, all of the 631 sample units were surveyed [92].

Web Resources: [91], [93]

Estonia

Monitoring the Rural Landscape (abbreviation in this report: Estonia)

Landscape monitoring is part of the agri-environmental programme of Estonia. It focuses on agricultural landscapes. Changes in land use/land cover as well as human impacts are studied by measuring the spatial structure of the landscape, taking aerial photos and evaluating biodiversity-relevant indicators, (e.g., number and diversity of earthworms in the soil). Therefore, this indicator-based monitoring programme has a strong cultural-biological focus. The perception and social components are less pronounced but clearly stated in the aims. There is an aspect of visual landscape perception in this monitoring, in that the appearance of the monitored farms as well as agri-ecological compensation areas have been chosen as an indicator of landscape attractiveness for people.

Web Resources: [94]-[97]

The Netherlands

Landscape Observatory (abbreviation in this report: the Netherlands)

The national landscape observatory in the Netherlands is an ongoing landscape monitoring programme organised by LandschappenNL, the Ministry of Education, Culture and Science and local universities. It has a strong outreach component, but at the same time has sound scientific support. The monitoring is based on a landscape quality assessment [98] which includes indicators,

visual assessments and expert opinions on a variety of landscape aspects, including cultural history. People's perception of the landscape is not assessed with questionnaires, but expert assessments are used instead.

Web Resources: [98]-[100]

Belgium

Landscape Atlases of Belgium

Significant work has been done by the Public Service of Wallonia and the Flemish organization for Immovable Heritage for the creation of landscape atlases.

See International Landsacpe Observatory of the Council of Europe (Information System): <u>www.coe.int/en/web/landscape/landscape-observatory</u>

Citizen Observatory of the landscape (*Observatoire citoyen du paysage*), Belgium, Wallonia (abbreviation in this report: Wallonia)

The Citizen Observatory of the landscape (*Observatoire citoyen du paysage*) is a landscape monitoring initiative in Belgium in the Wallonia region. It is led by the Inter-Environment Federation Wallonia, in cooperation with the Wallonia and local nature parks [101]. For evaluating the changes in the landscape, stakeholders (citizens and associations) are asked to take photos from the same site annually, compare the old with the new and evaluate the landscapes [102]. The Observatoire has a subjective approach, focusing more on social and less on ecological aspects.

Web Resources: [101]-[103]

France

Landscape Atlases of France

Important work on landscape atlases has been conducted by the Ministry of Solidarity and Ecological Transition. More and more landscape atlases incorporate a strong bottom-up landscape perception component [74]. The methodology of landscape atlases has been developed in many departments of France [75]. An methodological overview is given in [76], stressing the need for updating the landscape atlases every 10 years. This would then indeed be a form of landscape monitoring similar to the Countryside Quality Counts (CQC) programme reported here. However, as reported in [74], there seems to be a delay in both production and updating due to the time-consuming nature of the process. Landscape atlases are important tools for landscape monitoring.

See International Landsacpe Observatory of the Council of Europe (Information System) <u>www.coe.int/en/web/landscape/landscape-observatory</u>

National Photographic Landscape Observatory of France (*Observatoire photographique national du paysage*), France (abbreviation in this report: France)

The National Landscape Photographic Observatory of France was established in 1992 by the Ministry of the Environment. It contains currently 20 local observatories (one for monitoring each territory). In each local observatory, an artist takes 40 photographs from the same site annually. These photographs are then compared with previous ones. The artistic aspect of the observatory is important [104].

Web Resources: [104]-[106]

Belgium and France

Semois Valley, Belgium and France (abbreviation in this report: Semois)

The landscape monitoring of the Semois valley in France and Belgium is part of the European Territorial Cooperation programme (Interreg III). It was initiated as a cross-border restoration programme for the watercourse and resulted in a landscape-scale collaboration. To identify the landscape evolution, photos of the same site were taken through the seasons and old photographs and postcards studied and compared with the current situation. In addition, random photographs were taken on a route through the Semois valley. The survey took agriculture, the forest, the river and housing and other infrastructure, (e.g., roads) into account.

Web Resources: [107], in French: [108]

Switzerland

Swiss Landscape Monitoring Programme (abbreviation in this report: Switzerland, LABES)

The Swiss landscape monitoring programme LABES (abbreviation originates from the German "Landschaftsbeobachtung Schweiz") is one of the first national landscape observatories (total area ca 40,000 km²) where landscape perception is systematically monitored with representative surveys. The monitoring consists of roughly 30 indicators that are embedded in the DPSIR framework, (i.e., driving force-pressure-state-impact-response). Approximately 25% of the indicators measure perception properties, including the information content of the landscape [46] and indicators including fascination, landscape beauty and authenticity. Respondents are instructed to base their statements on the landscape and places in their current home municipality rather than on pictures of specific landscapes. An innovative indicator of the physical space concerns light emissions, which is a straightforward proxy for urbanisation and human activities. The monitoring also measures landscape fragmentation and urban sprawl, as well as areas without buildings or infrastructure. Currently, around half the indicators are available as a time series. A rigid quality control process showed that the indicators are geographically representative for Switzerland and a core set of indispensable indicators was determined [11]. The programme is constantly evaluated scientifically.

Web Resources: [109], *in German:* [110] – *See appendix to this Report.*

Switzerland, Regional Nature Park Chasseral, Switzerland (abbreviation in this report: Chasseral)

- See Appendix to this Report.

For the photographic landscape observatory in the protected area of Doubs and Chasseral (Jura) photographs are taken by volunteers. The survey focuses on everyday landscapes and is part of the environmental awareness and education activities of the regional park.

Web Resources: [126], [127]

Italy

Landscape Observatories of Italy

Italy has several landscape observatories at various spatial levels (

Fig. 11). They all refer to the European Landscape Convention. Many of them use indicators to express the changes over time. The National Observatory of Rural Landscape is strongly linked to surveying agricultural practices and traditional knowledge considered to be of particular value for Italy [111].



Fig. 11: Landscape in Piemonte. Image: 'Barolo Landscape' by x1klima on Flickr (licensed as CC BY-ND 2.0)

Here the monitoring activities of the Piemonte region (abbreviation in this report: Piemonte) are highlighted as an excellent example of the fact that scientifically sound monitoring need not exclude a strong bottom-up component and involvement of the people. On the one hand there are seven local observatories which cover important areas of Piemonte [113]. On the other hand there is a well-elaborated and well-documented indicator-based monitoring approach that bridges all aspects of landscapes from biological aspects to perceptions [3].

Web Resources: [112]-[115]

Portugal

Tagus River (abbreviation in this report: Tagus)

The landscape observatory of the Tagus river collaborates with NOVA - the New University of

Lisbon – and with the University Autonoma de Madrid. It characterises the landscape in the context of awareness and education as well as the cultural and socioterritorial dynamics of the Tagus landscape. Therefore, a knowledge repository of the river landscapes is established as well as a photo observatory to monitor the landscape and to publish proof photographs and "photographs suggested by the public to show various aspects of recognised interest" [116]. Public participation plays a major role in this landscape observatory.



Fig. 12: The Tagus river flows through Spain and Portugal, which requires collaboration between two countries for landscape monitoring along the stream. Tagus River viewed from Santarém. Image: 'IMG_0821_2_3_tonemapped' by Paolo on www.flickr.com (licensed as <u>CCBY-NC-ND</u> <u>2.0</u>)

Web Resources: [116], in Portugese: [117]

Spain

Landsacpe Monitoring

Important works carried out by the Ministry of Culture (Institute of Cultural Heritage) of Spain, intended to present the works carried out on the whole territory of Spain for the follow-up of the landscapes are in progress: Andalusia, Aragon, Cantabria, Castilla-La Mancha, Castile and Leon, Catalonia, Community of Madrid, Community of Navarre, Community of Valencia, Extremadura, Galicia, Balearic Islands, Canary Islands, La Rioja, Basque Country, Principality of Asturias, Region of Murcia.

See International Landscape Observatory of the Council of Europe Information System: <u>www.coe.int/en/web/landscape/landscape-observatory</u>

Landscape Observatory of the Canary Islands, Spain [133]

Landscape Observatory of Catalonia, Spain (abbreviation in this report: Catalonia)

The Landscape Observatory of Catalonia was established in 2004 by the Regional Government of Catalonia. The aim is to promote a better knowledge of the local landscape in Catalan society [118]. Apart from studying and monitoring the landscape, an important aspect is awareness-raising among

all members of society for better landscape management and planning [119].

To evaluate the landscape, various indicators, (e.g., landscape diversity, landscape fragmentation, economic value) are used, while taking social and economic aspects of landscapes into account [120]. The evaluated landscapes are described in landscape catalogues. In addition, a report on the state of the landscape is generated every four years [119].

Landscape inventory in Galicia, Spain [121]

Web Resources: [118], [122]

Cyprus, Greece, Jordan and Lebanon

Eastern Mediterranean Landscape Observatory, EMLO (abbreviation in this report: EMLO)

The Eastern Mediterranean Landscape Observatory, EMLO, has partners form Cyprus, Greece, Jordan and Lebanon. It is led by the Laona Foundation for the Conservation and Regeneration of Cypriot Countryside in Cyprus, in partnership with MEDSCAPES. The aim is to increase landscape sensitivity and knowledge, to protect the landscape heritage and to monitor and document the landscape change to support the adoption of government land instruments. The monitoring has a strong outreach component [123].

Web Resources: [123]

Germany

National Park Berchtesgaden (abbreviated in this report: Berchtesgaden)

The Berchtesgaden National Park in Germany conducts landscape monitoring to identify and interpret landscape developments. Repeated surveys are carried out, focusing almost entirely on ecological aspects. Social aspects play a subordinate role because Berchtesgaden is an IUCN Cat. II protected area. The monitoring is concentrated on the core zone, where little or no human interaction takes place. In order to be able to compare the results nationally, Berchtesgaden National Park is keen to push the idea of a standardised 'core data set' of indicators that are nationally and internationally comparable.

Web Resources: [124], [125]

Peru

Terrace Landscape Observatory (abbreviation in this report: Peru)

In Peru the Terrace Landscape Observatory was established in 2014. It is a strongly bottom-up and participatory project with the aim of improving the quality of life of the inhabitants of the terraced landscapes in Peru. Monitoring is a minor activity; the major focus is on water management, sanitation of drinking water, improving agricultural practices and market strategies and empowering

the (female) rural population. [59]. *Web Resources:* [128]

New Zealand

Rotorua District (abbreviation in this report: Rotorua)

Rotorua is a 2,614.9 km² district on the North Island of New Zealand with an estimated permanent population of 58,800. It is the country's 10th largest urban area. Rotorua is a major destination for both domestic and international tourists, with the tourism industry being by far the largest industry in the district. Given its small size, the Rotorua district has a remarkably broad indicator-driven environmental monitoring scheme, where physical landscape aspects such as land-use/land-cover changes or biodiversity are monitored but also landscape amenity values and resource consents by indigenous groups of people (*tangata whenua*). This indicator-driven system has a cycle of one to five years. Each indicator is evaluated on the basis of whether the good or service it stands for is stable or decreasing/increasing in quality or quantity. Indicators such as water quality, air quality and rural and urban land, as well as cultural heritage and tourism, are used to support a sustainable environment, economy and infrastructure. In addition, for a specific area known as the Lakes A Zone, landscape change is reported in detail by taking photographs every two years from 24 viewpoints. The photographs are then compared by experts to identify visual changes, which are recorded, and their impacts and threats quantified. The Rotorua district monitoring scheme is an indicator-based approach, taking social and economic aspects into account.

Web Resources: [129], [130]

Australia

Great Barrier Reef, SELTMP (abbreviation in this report: Barrier Reef)

The landscape monitoring programme of the Great Barrier Reef in Australia is a social and economic long-term monitoring programme called SELTMP that was funded in 2011 by the Australian Government. It is led by researchers from the local university and the Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation. In addition, the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, local organisations, community groups and industries are involved in this project.

The aim is to inform reef managers about the current status and historical and possible future trends of the local industries, communities and park users. It should provide social and economic information for effective management and planning. Therefore, stakeholders, (e.g., tourists, fishers, residents) are questioned about their affinity, experiences and values regarding the reef, focusing more on social and economic aspects than on ecological aspects.

Web Resources: [131], [132]

European island landscapes

ESLAND project aimed to consider, including the unique identities and values they have [134].**4** Proposing a typology of landscape monitoring

4.1 Assessment criteria

Based on the review of experiences previously presented, a catalogue of six criteria to systematically characterise and classify the approaches was developed. For each criterion, two strongly contrasting views or poles have been delineated that describe a gradient along which each monitoring programme was then classified (Table 2).

Table 2: The criteria according to which the monitoring was evaluated. Two contrasting poles are given for each criterion. Each monitoring activity was evaluated along the gradient formed by the two perspectives given in this example.

Criterion	Pole 1	Pole 2	
(1) Type of	Indicator-driven	Comprehensive narrative landscape	
landscape		assessment focusing on case studies	
assessment		described with characteristics that	
		differ from case to case	
(2)	Science-driven (biology,	Art-driven (photographs, drawings,	
Replicability	geography, sociology)	architectural objects)	
and scientific			
ambitions			
(3) Spatial	Statistically representative for	Case studies without statistical	
coverage and	a region	representativeness	
representativen			
ess			
(4) Compliance	Integrated (covering all	Sectoral (covering selected aspects of	
with ELC	aspects of the ELC landscape	the ELC landscape definition)	
landscape	definition)		
definition			
(5) Legal	Endorsed by an official	Endorsed by NGOs or citizens'	
framework	national or provincial body	movements	
(6) Protection	Fully protected area	Protected areas form a mosaic in a	
status of the		matrix of unprotected land	
covered area			

The orientation of the poles is neither positive nor negative; they represent distinct manifestations of the same criterion. This means that the assessment of which poles a landscape monitoring activity belongs to does not assess the *quality* of this monitoring activity but is rather an attempt at proposing a typology of different monitoring approaches. Using these six criteria, it has been possible to place the monitoring approaches to the best of our knowledge along the gradients. This analysis is

sometimes a challenge, because each approach is in some way unique and difficult to reduce to these six categories. Nonetheless, the proposed typology helps our understanding by systematising different approaches according to defined criteria. Given our classification of the different monitoring approaches according to the criteria in Table 2, we present rankings of the different monitoring schemes according to those criteria, to show graphically how the approaches in one group differ in detail (Fig. 13 and Fig. 15). The boundaries between these broad groups are not sharp. As is the case for any grouping or classification, the use of sharp boundaries in a continuum is based on partly subjective group affiliations. The following groups of approaches may be considered (for details see sections 4.2 to 4.5):

- indicator-driven approaches;
- comprehensive narratives, partially art- and action-driven approaches;
- landscape character assessments (LCAs) with a monitoring component;
- approaches for protected areas (based on criterion (6) only).

4.2 Indicator-driven approaches

The first group identified is landscape monitoring activities that are indicator-driven and aim at representativeness. This group is the largest of the four, comprising the monitoring programmes from the Netherlands, Piemonte, Switzerland (LABES), Norway, Rotorua New Zealand, Estonia, Finland, the Eastern Mediterranean Landscape Observatory EMLO, Sweden and Catalonia, and the Countryside Quality Counts programme from England, all of which have been described in more detail in Table 1. As exemplified in Fig. 13, this group has quite similar characteristics for the first four criteria. Most monitoring schemes belonging to this class try to mirror all aspects of landscapes by means of indicators, which are statistically representative for the region under consideration and accompanied by scientific evaluations of the data. The requirements for indicators stated in section 2.3 are not repeated, but it seems important to note that indicators are not simply scientific data but are time series of data that approximate complex processes with the simplest possible measurements. All monitoring systems do not use scientific data but that their use is frequently ad hoc and not in the form of strict indicators. Remote sensing is used in many of these approaches as a way of measuring the physical aspects of the landscape.



Fig. 13: Ranking of the investigated approaches according to four criteria (see Table 2)

A number of these monitoring systems come from experiments conducted for rural territories (e.g., Italy's Observatory of the Rural Landscape, Q3 in Norway and the Swedish and Estonian programmes). The reasons are obvious: there are generally good statistics on agricultural land, facilitating monitoring of biodiversity-relevant aspects but also cultural aspects of landscape. However, due to this bias towards agricultural areas, these landscape monitoring schemes tend to neglect urban landscapes. There is a danger that such monitoring schemes may remain locked in stereotypical assumptions that rural areas are always 'the landscape per se' and that urban and peri-urban landscapes have a distinct lower landscape quality. Whilst this assumption may hold true in many cases, it should nonetheless be substantiated with representative surveys among the population, such as the Countryside Quality Counts scheme in the UK [135] or the Swiss landscape monitoring scheme, which assesses the aesthetics of the landscape in people's home community through a representative survey in the population [11]. Assessments including the population directly should be preferred over the entirely expert-based assessments which are still found in many programmes.

The indicator-driven approaches have many advantages but also some disadvantages. One of the main advantages is that the different aspects of the landscape such as habitat occurrence, patterning of the landscape or perception, are measured quantitatively and recorded independently. This enables separate policy recommendations to be made based on the same monitoring scheme. The disadvantage of these approaches is that it is difficult to arrive at a comprehensive synthesis regarding how landscapes are developing. A case in point is Switzerland's landscape monitoring programme LABES. Despite the fact that this pioneering monitoring system measures many aspects of the physical and perceived landscape, it has clear deficiencies in assessing changes to the overall character of Swiss landscapes.

Another challenge for indicator-based approaches is that they are relatively expensive to maintain, including documenting the data, continually evaluating the use of the latest technologies, collecting and analysing representative survey data and ensuring consistent time series. Therefore indicator-based monitoring programmes should be endorsed by an official national or provincial body. It is therefore not surprising that some of the approaches studied here have deficits with regard to keeping

CEP-CDCPP (2019) 7E

the programme running over several years and documenting it well with information available in written reports or online. Leaving indicator-based monitoring entirely in the hands of non-governmental organisations carries the risk of inconsistent data production or project termination.



Fig. 14 The landscapes of Rotorua in New Zealand are monitored through an integrated approach comprising physical and social indicators (photo: Pia Bereuter)

It can be noted that the Integrated Landscape Monitoring Program in Rotorua District, New Zealand, presents a particularly interesting approach. This program is based on physical and social indicators and follows the implementation of an instrument that safeguards the claims and needs of the indigenous population in the landscape (*tangata whenua*). This explicit monitoring of legal instruments for landscape management has been found in this monitoring approach only and would be worth considering in other approaches. Importantly, all indicators are accessible and well documented on the Web, making this an exemplary case of a holistic landscape monitoring programme.

4.3 Comprehensive marratives, partially art-driven and action-driven approaches

The aim of the approaches in this group is to monitor landscape development of smaller or larger regions by means of landscape descriptions that do not strictly follow indicators but are comprehensive narratives of the landscape. Most use photographs, some almost exclusively. There is frequently a strong link to art. Some use photographs uploaded and interpreted by the public and some rely on professional photographs. There is often a strong bottom-up and participatory component. The most important aim of the descriptions is not representativeness. Rather, a description is provided of the typical landscape characteristics as seen by the public or by experts. Six approaches are included in this group that are similar in terms of the evaluation of the criterion type of assessment (non-indicator) and a more art-driven approach. These include the monitoring of the protected area of Chasseral (Switzerland) and the landscape monitoring systems of France (the Photo monitoring not the Landscape Atlases), Wallonia, Tagus, Peru and the Semois valley.



Fig. 15: Ranking of the investigated approaches according to the criterion type of assessment and replicability

Advantages of these monitoring systems include the rapid characterisation of the important landscape features of a region and the fact that there is often no tedious search for data or long time series (except for the professional photo time series). Furthermore, through the bottom-up approach these monitoring systems integrate the views of the population and are well suited to implementation by associations.

The disadvantages include the fact that landscape development and changes are difficult to substantiate on a quantitative basis, which is often demanded by decision makers, and sectoral recommendations are difficult to make. Another drawback is the strong focus on the visual aspects of landscape through the use of photographs, potentially neglecting other important values.

4.4 Landscape Character Assessments (LCAs) with a Monitoring Component

The basic idea in this group is to repeat landscape character assessments (LCAs, see [136]) at given time steps and compare the changes through time. The most prominent example is the pioneering work of the Countryside Quality Counts (CQC) initiative from England. This aims at monitoring landscape quality through time in roughly 160 joint character areas in England [137], [138]. The monitoring analyses what physical changes in the landscape occur in each landscape character area, whether those changes matter and whether the overall character of the landscape has changed. This change is compared to the vision statement of a broad panel of stakeholders, which summarises how the character area should develop in the future. This group occupies an intermediate position between the purely indicator-driven (section 4.2) and the comprehensive narrative approaches (section 4.3). The two approaches that fit this profile are the CQC England and the Landscape Character Study, Cornwall.

4.5 Approaches for protected areas

Monitoring approaches for protected areas have in common the fact that their geographic extent is very clearly defined and that there is a management body in place that is immediately interested in results and in the maintenance of the monitoring programme. However, approaches may differ

CEP-CDCPP (2019) 7E

considerably between different protected areas. A protected area monitoring scheme experiment will be presented below.



Fig. 16: The Great Barrier Reef is a protected area where the aim of monitoring is to inform reef managers – image 'The Great Barrier Reef – 189' by Kyle Taylor on www.flickr.com (licensed as creative commons CC BY 2.0)

The Berchtesgaden National Park is a protected area according to Category II (National Park) of the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) and it limits its monitoring almost exclusively to biological-ecological and physical aspects of the protected landscape.

The Great Barrier Reef is an IUCN Category V (Protected Landscape/Seascape) area, where the aim of monitoring is to inform reef managers about the current status and historical and possible future trends of the local industries, communities and park users. It should provide social and economic information for effective management and planning. Therefore, the attitudes of stakeholders, (e.g., tourists, fishers, residents) towards the reef are also monitored. The Chasseral protected area observatory is a bottom-up initiative, and was included therefore in the group of comprehensive narrative and art-based monitoring programmes, as the emphasis is on photographs taken by the population to promote place attachment and place-making.

5. Key factors for successful implementation

Landscape monitoring is a challenging task, as it covers many dimensions ranging from the ecological to the social and cultural. Therefore, expertise for landscape monitoring is needed from a range of disciplines including geology, ecology, geography, economy, sociology, psychology and history.

Considering the previous review of approaches, as well as the expertise acquired by the authors of this report with the Swiss landscape monitoring program over more than eight years, it is possible to list some key factors for successful implementation. integrated landscape monitoring schemes.

5.1 Use the monitoring type that is appropriate for the local situation

The following recommendations are given in accordance with the typology presented above,

The recommendations mentioned below are made according to the typology devised in chapter 5, namely, indicator-driven approaches, comprehensive narratives and partially art- and action-driven approaches, landscape character assessments and approaches for protected areas. They describe the situations in which they will have the greatest potential for success.

Indicator-driven approaches with representative scientific data

This approach is only recommended in cases of good availability of landscape-relevant data, which can be generated, e.g., from topographic maps or remote sensing data. An update cycle of two to five years should be guaranteed, otherwise the indicator-based approach is never up to date, due to the time delay. Indicator-based approaches need a sound conceptual model so that it is clear what each indicator measures. When collecting perception-based indicators, including aesthetic landscape perception and place attachment indicators, representative surveys should be preferentially conducted rather than expert-based assessments. These surveys are relatively expensive and may require a great deal of commitment from, and persuasion of, respective stakeholders. This may particularly be the case where governmental agencies are strongly oriented towards biodiversity monitoring and technological aspects.

However, the financial investment required for the surveys includes the costs involved when hiring large pools of experts, as is known from the assessment of landscape character (LCA). Furthermore, indicator-driven monitoring activities do not require a mandatory a priori classification of character areas. As a rule, a rough regionalisation may be sufficient, depending on the purposes of the monitoring. The fact that a priori landscape character areas do not have to be delineated makes indicator-based monitoring relatively inexpensive and flexible compared to LCAs. While a range of indicators allows for making policy-specific recommendations for a range of policies, it is difficult to generate a comprehensive overview of landscape relevant trends, as would be possible through landscape character assessments. Once all indicators have been recorded, the set of indicators can be relatively easily reduced through statistical analysis and expert judgments. The Swiss programme, for example, is evaluated every 10 years. Each indicator is checked to assess whether it is still needed and whether it adds to the overall landscape characterisation. This is beneficial because, in times of limited financial resources, the indicator-based approach can still be implemented as a sort of 'mini version' of a more comprehensive monitoring programme, enabling the maintenance of crucial time series and change detection, whereas LCA-based approaches may encounter more difficulties with reduced financial resources.

Comprehensive narratives, partially art- and action-driven approaches

These monitoring programmes are very well suited to arriving quickly at publicly effective statements about certain developments in the landscape. Since the approach does not claim to be representative, effective policy areas can be selected and depicted with great attention to detail and through a bottom-up approach. Since generally only photo time series are created, the approaches run the risk of not being taken seriously by politicians, since no 'hard' measurable facts are presented. These approaches are well suited to private sponsors or NGOs, as they offer great potential for mobilisation of the public with regard to landscape-relevant topics. These approaches also have potential to be integrated into larger monitoring programmes as a more bottom-up component that involves the population more directly than, e.g., the use of surveys or panels. Where

maintenance of time series is a necessity, burdening volunteers with this responsibility may not be viable in the long term, although there are several examples of highly successful environmental and cultural monitoring schemes that are based entirely on volunteers [139]-[142].

Landscape character assessments (LCAs) with a monitoring component

The comprehensive landscape description is the unique selling point of LCA-based monitoring activities and it ensures – in contrast to indicator-based monitoring schemes – that landscape is always seen in a holistic way and not through the sectoral view of many indicators. However, LCA requires a great deal of previous knowledge and preparatory work to delineate the homogeneous landscape character areas and a large pool of experts to cover the many aspects of the character regions. LCA-based monitoring activities require many well-coordinated steps (defining the development goals for a region, reviewing the old status with data and expert opinions, reviewing the new status and monitoring the achievement of goals for each region). Society must, as is the case in England, have an affinity for cultural landscape protection and thus assign a high value to landscape aspects. However, significant changes in landscape character are sometimes difficult to detect, because the character contains a multitude of aspects that are all interrelated. It may therefore take a long time and large changes for landscape character to change significantly, by which time taking corrective action may be challenging.

Approaches for protected areas

For protected areas there is usually an agreement or a decree, signed by a governmental organisation or an NGO designated by a public authority, with financial support and the obligation to monitor the development of the area. Under these circumstances, those in charge of monitoring usually choose the indicator-based approach with representative data collection. This can be seen in most monitoring schemes for protected areas. An indicator approach is also recommended because the size of the area under protection is usually manageable and does not – in most cases – cover entire regions. It could be quite risky to operate a narrative approach with only a few selected topics, as the protection status of an area must usually be periodically evaluated with representative parameters and reporting perspectives might easily change over the years. However, as seen in the case of the Chasseral, integration with a strongly place-based component that integrates the public's view is well suited to implementation in protected areas and can provide views from those who visit and live in a protected area to complement the indicator-based monitoring often required by funding bodies.

5.2 Endorse the monitoring

If monitoring is endorsed by an official governmental organisation or a committed non governmental organisation designated by a public authority, it is usually less likely to be discontinued. If it is only endorsed by citizen groups there may be a higher risk of the programme being discontinued, even though several citizen-based environmental programmes have been running for decades. Endorsement by an official body facilitates access to policy-relevant administrative bodies and thus helps in implementing the European Landscape Convention, as the Parties to the Convention are states. In our selection of 20 approaches, approximately 65% have official status as part of a national

report, (e.g., Switzerland LABES, the Netherlands), a provincial/regional report, (e.g., Wallonia) or a report organised by an NGO (Peru, EMLO).

5.3. Seek public participation and encourage citizen science

Public participation boosts motivation, stimulates self-responsibility and helps to reduce mistrust. It contributes to confidence-building, acceptance and identification with the landscape monitoring system. This is especially important for action-oriented bottom-up initiatives. However, participation should not be placed solely on the shoulders of volunteers, as enthusiasm may or may not cease after a few years, depending on the community of volunteers and their dedication. Furthermore, volunteer work is often strongly dependent on individuals, with success or failure hinging on the contribution or blockade of individuals. However, key people as drivers are essential and highly beneficial to the process, especially in the initial phases of a landscape observatory, but also for ensuring continuity and maintaining a high quality of overall volunteer-based monitoring. Approaches based on volunteers are increasingly being used in many different fields and have become known as citizen science. Citizen science is already used in some monitoring activities, (e.g., the photo observatories), and it has a large potential that should be utilised even more, whether in the form of uploaded photographs or texts highlighting the perceived landscape character of a region.

5.4. Inform stakeholders and the public

Monitoring activities are usually not among the most attractive topics discussed by politicians or scientists. Thus, it is important that stakeholders are kept informed, that contacts with the media are maintained and that suitable political events are chosen for press releases. In each monitoring programme there will be data that the public responds well to. In the Swiss monitoring programme, for example, the survey results on landscape perception were extremely well received. It was demonstrated, for example, that the population in the peri-urban areas perceives the landscape least positively, and that both the urban centres and rural areas are perceived much more positively. The media response to the publication of the light emission data was also positive. It was embedded in the message that the population should be able to see the stars in the night sky, because this is an important dimension of the night landscape.



Fig. 17: Peri-urban landscape in Pfäffikon SZ, Switzerland – it was shown by surveys that the people living in peri-urban areas perceive this type of landscape the least positively (photo: S. Gosteli)

5.5 Willingness to accept a lay view in landscape assessment

This crucial point applies strongly to all indicator-based monitoring schemes. They have the tendency to use expert opinions and judgments and neglect the view of the broader public. This tendency is most obvious when it comes to judging landscape beauty and cultural meanings. In this aspect, comprehensive narrative monitoring activities on a participatory basis have a clear advantage, as they integrate the view of the broad public in their monitoring concept. Integrating this view can be a success factor when public decisions are at stake, for instance regional or local public votes on the protection status of land. Monitoring of the public perception of landscapes would strengthen many public debates on protected areas in Europe and would facilitate coalition-building.

5.6 Seek collaboration with research institutes

Scientific support is extremely important. It promotes credibility and thus the chances that recommendations are implemented. It is, however, necessary to beware of solely expert-driven landscape assessments. Experts often see their specialist field differently and their judgement can

deviate considerably from that of the population, even if the experts may claim to know and represent the view of the population.

5.7 Promote rapid availability of data

Most indicator-based monitoring schemes use official land-use data, some of which are already dated. The credibility would significantly increase if up-to-date data could be provided, e.g., from satellites with high temporal and spatial resolution. For instance, Sentinel-2 satellite data with multiple scenes per vegetation season could meet this requirement. These have been available since the end of 2015 and could be used, for example, to measure the dynamics of land use.

5.8 Be consistent with internationally-recognised landscape theories and concepts

If a landscape monitoring programme has a clear theoretical foundation, it is usually better accepted in the scientific community and, thus, in the realm of policy and administration, and indicators or descriptive data are better selected and prioritised. For this reason, the introductory chapters of this report present some basic theories that could help landscape monitoring programmes to establish a theoretical foundation. For indicator-driven approaches, indicators should be promoted that clearly link to broader landscape concepts. Indicator-driven monitoring activities are at particular risk of proposing indicators simply 'because they can be measured' without rigid control of what aspects of the landscape they should measure and in which broader theoretical framework of landscape research they are situated.

5.9 Use novel social science methods and emerging forms of data to gain information on people's place attachment

Due to recent advances in social science survey methods and the availability of crowd-sourced data, two important trends for modern landscape monitoring can be observed: (a) the breakthrough in the field of representative online panel surveys, which will enable the use of complex survey methods and visualisation techniques and (b) the immense possibilities of the analysis of so-called usergenerated data (social media data), to capture the statements, commentaries and pictures of residents concerning landscapes and to evaluate cultural landscape values such as sense of place, place attachment, aesthetic appreciation and recreation [28], [143]-[147]. Instead of collecting people's knowledge or attitudes directly, which has the disadvantage of being 'reported' and therefore often biased, crowd-sourced data lead to inferring people's knowledge from their behaviour through digital traces [148]. A simple example of the use of crowd-sourced data is the map comparison shown in Fig. 18. The upper map in Fig. 18 shows the results of the Swiss landscape monitoring indicator "landscape beauty of the municipality", as expressed by a Switzerland-wide representative number of people, aggregated by districts. The lower map is taken from a query on Instagram and shows the number of user-uploaded images using the hashtag "landscape" (#landscape). There is quite a large agreement between the two maps, highlighting that alpine areas are perceived as more beautiful by residents (as assessed in the survey), and are also photographed more on social media (as evidenced through Instagram images). There are also areas where the two methods yield different results, which makes it interesting to investigate such methods in more detail. The example shows that social media have the potential to validly reproduce results from traditional surveys but also to generate a great deal of new information. It still needs to be assessed whether the new methodological possibilities can be combined with traditional surveys, (e.g., in a mixed-method approach) or should be run in

CEP-CDCPP (2019) 7E

parallel. The Swiss landscape monitoring programme LABES will undergo a rigid methodological evaluation to answer these questions.



Fig. 18: Comparing perception assessments originating from representative surveys with crowd-sourced data

6. Future challenges for landscape monitoring

Most of the landscape monitoring schemes presented here are able to respond to the current processes shaping landscapes. However, landscape monitoring should also be able to cover any future processes, the effects of which may only be seen in a few years or even decades. If one takes into account the enormous impact of globalisation, climate change and migration, the development in communication technologies and the global decoupling of capital (land) and people, landscape monitoring must continuously strive to identify how these processes will impact on societies and their relationship with landscapes. It appears that the topics mentioned in sections 6.1 to 6.4 are generally under-represented in approaches to landscape monitoring and should be considered for inclusion in existing monitoring instruments.

6.1 Light and soundscapes

Very few landscape monitoring activities deal with light and soundscapes. The night landscape is often completely neglected, thereby omitting an important aspect of the environment for the ecology, human health and culture [149]-[151]. Light emissions increasingly brighten the night sky. A strong increase has been observed worldwide over the last 20-30 years [152].



Fig. 19: The sound of water flowing from a fountain is an example of a pleasant *element of a soundscape – fountain in Zurich, Switzerland* (photo: S. Gosteli)

Excessive nocturnal brightness can affect the habitats of nocturnal animals, with sometimes fatal consequences for insect and animal populations. For example, light pollution can disturb the orientation of flying animals such as birds or bats [153]-[156], but marine mammals such as turtles also become disoriented through artificial night lights [157]-[159]. The loss of the night landscape also poses problems for humans. Star observation becomes almost impossible for astronomers and the fact that 60% of Europeans cannot see the Milky Way or can only see it to a limited extent, is a cultural loss [152]. Too much light at night can also be harmful to health. The "internal clock" regulates various bodily functions and is closely linked to the daily change from light to dark. The hormone melatonin, for example, is only produced in dark phases. If production is disrupted, sleep disturbances or changes in the immune system can occur [160]. An economic study estimates the damage caused by light pollution in the USA alone at USD seven billion per year [161].



Fig. 20: Artificial light emissions change the night landscape – bright night sky in Zurich, Switzerland – image "Lights of the plain at sunset II" by Tambako The Jaguar on ww.flickr.com (licensed as <u>creative commons CC BY-NC 2.0</u>)

Besides these negative aspects of artificial night lighting, there is a trend in many societies towards using light in an artistic way that enhances people's experiences of landscapes at night [162], where

a sustainable use of light can improve the experience of a night landscape and generate bonding to a place.

Regarding soundscapes, very few monitoring systems observe the sounds of the landscape. The Okinawa Environmental Observation Network (OKEON) is a good example. It would be desirable to operationalise soundscape ecological research [163] in large-scale monitoring of the soundscape that would enable us to link visual and biological properties of landscapes with sound aspects and add this important component [164], [165]. Furthermore, there is promising research demonstrating how aural aspects of landscapes can be extracted from user-generated texts in the UK, providing a citizen-based assessment of sounds in the landscape [166].

6.2 Systematic place-making and place attachment monitoring

Many of the comprehensive narrative and partially art- and action-driven approaches are based on concepts of place attachment, place-making and sense of place. These projects are often positioned as initiators to promote sense of place by means of participatory processes. However, because there is a demand for quantitative indicators from policymakers, there is a need to integrate qualitative assessments of place attachment with measuring systems that allow those aspects to be taken into account, otherwise there is a risk of them being overlooked in favour of more easily quantifiable indicators such as recreation. The approaches of the Tagus river (Portugal), the Chasseral (Switzerland) or the Observatoire Citoyen du Paysage (Belgium) programmes are interesting. It would be desirable if these approaches developed systematic place attachment indicators [167] to measure place attachment through time. Such systematic approaches could be complemented with qualitative and art-based approaches for a more holistic assessment of this important aspect of people-landscape relationships.

6.3 Indicators measuring the role of landscapes in integrating migrants

Studies show that the longer people reside in a place, the stronger their place attachment becomes ([34], [35]), but there is also evidence for place attachment developing more immediately [168]. With globalised workplaces and voluntary and forced migration in our global societies, people increasingly need places they can feel connected to and can access easily and quickly, irrespective of their sociodemographic and cultural backgrounds. None of the reviewed approaches has taken into account the inclusive character of landscapes, although a recent review sheds light on the role of landscapes in promoting inclusion [169]. Enabling inclusive experiences in landscapes and creating landscapes that enable such inclusion is paramount in our changing societies.

6.4 Indicators measuring the success of legal instruments

Few monitoring activities explicitly look at the legal instruments of landscape protection and landscape management. Today – at least in democratic states – many court rulings or approval procedures are publicly and digitally accessible and could be recorded over the time periods under which, or in the context within which, certain laws or incentives have an effect. The example from New Zealand (Rotorua) in which it is counted how often resource consents by indigenous groups of people (*tangata whenua*) are given, is very illustrative.

Conclusion

Landscapes are changing rapidly. States Parties to the European Landscape Convention undertake to identify the landscapes throughout their territory, to analyse their characteristics and the forces and pressures transforming them and to take note of their changes. Grounded in the integrated landscape definition of the Convention, these activities must take into account both the physical aspects of landscape and how landscapes are perceived by people.

A wide variety of landscape monitoring approaches can be observed; some have been presented in a synthesis that also includes particularly notable examples from different points of the globe. These approaches were grouped into different categories (indicator-driven approaches, comprehensive narratives and landscape character assessments...). Based on experience with the Swiss landscape monitoring programme, a set of key factors for the successful implementation of a monitoring programme was identified. Ensuring the endorsement of the monitoring by official (governmental) bodies is essential to secure the long-term implementation of a monitoring scheme, as well as to secure the rapid availability of data needed for the monitoring to be effective and timely in informing policy and decision-making. Public participation and generating information from the bottom up about how people perceive landscape (change), rather than solely conducting expert assessments, is also of major importance. Novel methods, such as art-based and action-oriented approaches have been successfully used and have considerable potential. Societal trends, such as the use of social media to post experiences and impressions of landscapes and places, enable us to assess landscape perception and people-place relations cost-effectively at large spatial scales, which was previously unfeasible.

Importantly, landscape monitoring activities need to be constantly adapted to capture relevant aspects of landscape change. It appears important to monitor changes in nightscapes, which are affected by artificial night lighting, and to develop and apply indicators measuring changes to soundscapes. Furthermore, in our changing societies there is also a need to reflect how landscapes can become inclusive places that enable people from different cultural and socio-economic backgrounds to connect with and relate to the landscape.

References

- [1] B. Pedroli, M. Antrop, and T. Pinto Correia, "Editorial: Living Landscape: The European Landscape Convention in Research Perspective", *Landsc. Res.*, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 691–694, 2013.
- [2] R. S. de Groot, R. Alkemade, L. Braat, L. Hein, and L. Willemen, "Challenges in integrating the concept of ecosystem services and values in landscape planning, management and decision making", *Ecol. Complex.*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 260–272, 2010.
- [3] C. Cassatella and A. Peano, *Landscape indicators: Assessing and monitoring landscape quality*. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, 2011.
- [4] Council of Europe, "European Landscape Convention", *Rep. Conv. Florence*, vol. ETS No. 17, no. 176, p. 8, 2000.
- [5] M. G. Turner, R. H. Gardner, and R. V O'Neill, *Landscape ecology in theory and practice*. New York: Springer, 2001.

- [6] C. O. Sauer, "The Morphology of Landscape", *Univ. Calif. Publ. Geogr.*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 19–53, 1925.
- [7] Merriam-Webster, "Definition of landscape", 2018. [Online]. Available: www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/landscape. [Accessed: 04-Oct-2018].
- [8] E. Brady, *Aesthetics of the natural environment*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, 2003.
- [9] L. M. Johnson and E. S. Hunn, *Landscape ethnoecology: concepts of biotic and physical space*. New York: Berghahn Books, 2010.
- [10] C. Swanwick, "The assessment of countryside and landscape character in england: An overview", in *Countryside Planning: New Approaches to Management and Conservation*, London: Routledge, 2012, pp. 109–124.
- [11] F. Kienast, J. Frick, M. J. van Strien, and M. Hunziker, "The Swiss Landscape Monitoring Program - A comprehensive indicator set to measure landscape change", *Ecol. Modell.*, vol. 295, pp. 136–150, 2015.
- [12] M. Hunziker, M. Bucheker, and T. Hartig, "Space and place tow aspects of the humanlandscape relationship", *A Chang. world Challenges Landsc. Res.*, no. 8, pp. 47–62, 2007.
- [13] Y.-F. Tuan, "Place: An Experiential Perspective", *Geogr. Rev.*, vol. 65, no. 2, p. 151, 1975.
- [14] T. Cresswell, *Place: An introduction*. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, 2014.
- [15] E. Relph, *Place and placelessness*, vol. 1. London: Pion, 1976.
- [16] D. Massey, Space, Place and Gender. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 2013.
- [17] S. M. Low, "Towards an anthropological theory of space and place", *Semiotica*, vol. 2009, no. 175. pp. 21–37, 2009.
- [18] B. Burkhard, F. Kroll, S. Nedkov, and F. Müller, "Mapping ecosystem service supply, demand and budgets", *Ecol. Indic.*, vol. 21, pp. 17–29, 2012.
- [19] R. Haines-Young, M. Potschin, and F. Kienast, "Indicators of ecosystem service potential at European scales: Mapping marginal changes and trade-offs", *Ecol. Indic.*, vol. 21, pp. 39–53, 2012.
- [20] J. Helfenstein and F. Kienast, "Ecosystem service state and trends at the regional to national level : A rapid assessment", *Ecol. Indic.*, vol. 36, no. January, pp. 10–18, 2014.
- [21] M. G. Turner and R. H. Gardner, "Landscape disturbance dynamics", in *Landscape Ecology in Theory and Practice*, New York: Springer, 2015, pp. 175–228.
- [22] P. H. Verburg, S. van Asselen, E. H. van der Zanden, and E. Stehfest, "The representation of landscapes in global scale assessments of environmental change", *Landsc. Ecol.*, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 1067–1080, 2013.
- [23] E. Hirsch and M. O'Hanlon, *The Anthropology of Landscape. Perspective on Place and Space*. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1995.
- [24] A. I. Milcu, J. Hanspach, D. Abson, and J. Fischer, "Cultural Ecosystem Services: A Literature Review and Prospects for Future Research", *Ecol. Soc.*, vol. 18, no. 3, 2013.
- [25] T. C. Daniel *et al.*, "Contributions of cultural services to the ecosystem services agenda", *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, vol. 109, no. 23, pp. 8812–8819, 2012.
- [26] S. Stålhammar and E. Pedersen, "Recreational cultural ecosystem services: How do people describe the value?", *Ecosyst. Serv.*, vol. 26, pp. 1–9, 2017.
- [27] K. Gee and B. Burkhard, "Cultural ecosystem services in the context of offshore wind farming: A case study from the west coast of Schleswig-Holstein", *Ecol. Complex.*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 349–358, Sep. 2010.
- [28] G. Gliozzo, N. Pettorelli, and M. M. Haklay, "Using crowdsourced imagery to detect cultural

ecosystem services: a case study in South Wales, UK", *Ecol. Soc.*, vol. 21, no. 3, p. art6, 2016.

- [29] P. Guerrero, M. S. Møller, A. S. Olafsson, and B. Snizek, "Revealing Cultural Ecosystem Services through Instagram Images: The Potential of Social Media Volunteered Geographic Information for Urban Green Infrastructure Planning and Governance", *Urban Plan.*, vol. 1, no. 2, p. 1, Jun. 2016.
- [30] F. M. Wartmann and R. S. Purves, "Investigating sense of place as a cultural ecosystem service in different landscapes through the lens of language", *Landsc. Urban Plan.*, vol. 175, pp. 169–183, Jul. 2018.
- [31] M. C. Hidalgo and B. Hernández, "Place attachment: conceptual and empirical questions", *J. Environ. Psychol.*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 273–281, Sep. 2001.
- [32] D. R. Williams and J. J. Vaske, "The measurement of place attachment: Validity and generalisability of a psychometric approach", in *Forest Science*, 2003, vol. 49, no. 6, pp. 830– 840.
- [33] D. R. Williams, M. E. Patterson, J. W. Roggenbuck, and A. E. Watson, "Beyond the commodity metaphor: Examining emotional and symbolic attachment to place", *Leis. Sci.*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 29–46, 1992.
- [34] M. Lewicka, "In search of roots: Memory as enabler of place attachment", in Place Attachment: Advances in Theory, Methods and Applications, Taylor & Francis, 2013, pp. 49–60.
- [35] M. Lewicka, "Place attachment: How far have we come in the last 40 years?", *J. Environ. Psychol.*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 207–230, 2011.
- [36] D. J. Stobbelaar and B. Pedroli, "Perspectives on landscape identity: A conceptual challenge", *Landsc. Res.*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 321–339, 2011.
- [37] H. M. Proshansky, "The city and self-identity", *Environ. Behav.*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 147–169, 1978.
- [38] C. L. Twigger-Ross and D. L. Uzzell, "Place and Identity Processes", *J. Environ. Psychol.*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 205–220, 1996.
- [39] L. Scannell and R. Gifford, "The experienced psychological benefits of place attachment", *J. Environ. Psychol.*, vol. 51, pp. 256–269, 2017.
- [40] A. M. Brandenburg and M. S. Carroll, "Your place or mine?: The effect of place creation on environmental values and landscape meanings", *Soc. Nat. Resour.*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 381–398, 1995.
- [41] J. M. Brehm, B. W. Eisenhauer, and R. C. Stedman, "Environmental Concern: Examining the Role of Place Meaning and Place Attachment", *Soc. Nat. Resour.*, vol. 26, no. July 2011, pp. 522–538, 2013.
- [42] P. Devine-Wright and Y. Howes, "Disruption to place attachment and the protection of restorative environments: A wind energy case study", *Journal of environmental psychology*, 2010.
- [43] P. Devine-Wright, "Rethinking NIMBYism: The Role of Place Attachment and Place Identity in Explaning Place-protective Action", J. Community Appl. Soc. Psychol., vol. 19, no. January, pp. 426–441, 2009.
- [44] W. E. Dramstad *et al.*, "Integrating landscape-based values—Norwegian monitoring of agricultural landscapes", *Landsc. Urban Plan.*, vol. 57, no. 3–4, pp. 257–268, 2001.
- [45] G. Fry, M. S. Tveit, Å. Ode, and M. D. Velarde, "The ecology of visual landscapes: Exploring the conceptual common ground of visual and ecological landscape indicators",

Ecol. Indic., vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 933–947, 2009.

- [46] R. Kaplan and S. Kaplan, *The experience of nature: a psychological perspective*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1989.
- [47] G. H. Orians, "An ecological and evolutionary approach to landscape aesthetics", Landscape Meanings and Values, eds. E.C. Penning-Rowsell and D. Lowenthal. Allen & Unwin, London, pp. 3–25, 1986.
- [48] J. Appleton, "Landscape Evaluation: The Theoretical Vacuum", *Trans. Inst. Br. Geogr.*, no. 66, pp. 120–123, 1975.
- [49] J. Appleton, "Prospects and refuges re-visited", Landsc. J., vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 91–103, 1984.
- [50] B. Pedroli, T. Pinto-Correia, and P. Cornish, "Landscape what's in it? Trends in European landscape science and priority themes for concerted research", *Landsc. Ecol.*, vol. 21, pp. 421–430, 2006.
- [51] C. M. Hägerhäll *et al.*, "Do humans really prefer semi-open natural landscapes? A crosscultural reappraisal", *Front. Psychol.*, vol. 9, no. MAY, 2018.
- [52] F. Komossa, E. H. van der Zanden, C. J. E. Schulp, and P. H. Verburg, "Mapping landscape potential for outdoor recreation using different archetypical recreation user groups in the European Union", *Ecol. Indic.*, vol. 85, pp. 105–116, Feb. 2018.
- [53] J. K. S. Jacobsen and H. Tømmervik, "Leisure traveller perceptions of iconic coastal and fjord countryside areas: Lush naturalness or remembrance of agricultural times past?", *Land use policy*, vol. 54, pp. 38–46, 2016.
- [54] S. Kianicka, M. Buchecker, M. Hunziker, and U. Müller-Böker, "Locals' and tourists' sense of place: A case study of a Swiss Alpine village", *Mt. Res. Dev.*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 55–63, 2006.
- [55] M. Ströbele and M. Hunziker, "Are suburbs perceived as rural villages? Landscape-related residential preferences in Switzerland", *Landsc. Urban Plan.*, vol. 163, pp. 67–79, Jul. 2017.
- [56] C. Fürst, M. Volk, and F. Makeschin, "Squaring the circle? Combining models, indicators, experts and end-users in integrated land-use management support tools", *Environ. Manage.*, vol. 46, no. 6, pp. 829–833, 2010.
- [57] J. Portugali, "Self-organizing cities", in *Self-Organization and the City*, Berlin: Springer, 2000, pp. 49–72.
- [58] J. Portugali and N. Alfasi, "An approach to planning discourse analysis", *Urban Stud.*, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 251–272, 2008.
- [59] J. A. Sayer *et al.*, "Measuring the effectiveness of landscape approaches to conservation and development", *Sustain. Sci.*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 465–476, May 2017.
- [60] European Environment Agency EEA, "Environment and climate policy evaluation", Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2016.
- [61] Government of Victoria Department of Sustainability and Environment, "Monitoring, evaluation and reporting framework Land, water and biodiversity", Melbourne, 2012.
- [62] D. Niemeijer and R. S. de Groot, "A conceptual framework for selecting environmental indicator sets", *Ecol. Indic.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 14–25, 2008.
- [63] V. Oliveira and P. Pinho, "Evaluation in urban planning: Advances and prospects", *J. Plan. Lit.*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 343–361, 2010.
- [64] K. P. Hasund, "Developing environmental policy indicators by criteria–indicators on the public goods of the Swedish agricultural landscape", *J. Environ. Plan. Manag.*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 7–29, 2011.
- [65] N. Sang, D. Miller, and Å. Ode, "Landscape metrics and visual topology in the analysis of

landscape preference", Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design, 2008.

- [66] European Enviroment Agency EEA, "Air Pollution in Europe 1997", Copenhagen, 1997.
- [67] J. Holten-Andersen, H. Paaby, N. Christensen, M. Wier, and F. M. Andersen, "Recommendations on Strategies for Integrated Assessment of Broad Environmental Problems: Report Submitted to the European Environment Agency (EEA)", National Environmental Research Institute, Denmark, 1995.
- [68] F. Müller and R. Lenz, "Ecological indicators: Theoretical fundamentals of consistent applications in environmental management", *Ecol. Indic.*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 1–5, Jan. 2006.
- [69] M. Bottero, *Indicators Assessment Systems*. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, 2011.
- [70] Natural England, "Landscape Character Assessment", *The National Archive*, 2014. [Online]. Available: http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140712093920/www.naturalengland.org.uk/our work/landscape/englands/character/assessment/default.aspx. [Accessed: 09-Oct-2018].
- [71] Landscape Institute, "Landscape Character Assessment Technical Information Note 08/2015", 2016. [Online]. Available:
 www.landscapeinstitute.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/Landscape-Character-Assessment-TIN-08_15-20160216.pdf. [Accessed: 15-Oct-2018].
- [72] D. M. Wascher (ed), "European Landscape Character Areas Typologies, Cartography and Indicators for the Assessment of Sustainable Landscapes", in *the EU's Accompanying Measure project European Landscape Character Assessment Initiative (ELCAI), funded under the 5th Framework Programme on Energy, Environment and Sustainable Development*, 2005.
- [73] G. Fairclough, I. Sarlöv Herlin, and C. Swanwick, *Routledge Handbook of Landscape Character Assessment: Current Approaches to Characterisation and Assessment*. London: Routledge, 2018.
- [74] L. Le Dû-Blayo, "Atlas du Paysage. Landscape Atlases in France and Wallonia", in *Routledge Handbook of Landscape Character Assessment: Current Approaches to Characterisation and Assessment*, London: Routledge, 2018, pp. 143–153.
- [75] M. Antrop and V. Van Eetvelde, "The implementation of the Landscape Atlas of Flanders in the integrated spatial planning policy", in *Berlan-Darqué, M., Luginbühl, Y., Terrasson, D. (eds): Landscape: from knowledge to action*, Versailles: Quae, 2007, pp. 137–145.
- [76] R. Raymond, Y. Luginbühl, F. Séguin, Q. Cédelle, and H. Grare, "Landscape Atlases -Landscape identification, characterisation and assessment method." Ministère de l'Écologie, du Développement durable et de l'Énergie, 2015.
- [77] Politecnico di Torino, "Landscape Observatory Documentation", 2018. [Online]. Available: https://areeweb.polito.it/LOD/who.htm. [Accessed: 08-Oct-2018].
- [78] Council of Europe, "Council of Europe Landscape Convention", 2014. [Online]. Available: https://elcl6.coe.int/WebForms/Public_List.aspx. [Accessed: 08-Oct-2018].
- [79] Diacono Associates and White Consultants, "Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Landscape Character Study - Overview and Technical Report", 2007. [Online]. Available: www.cornwall.gov.uk/media/3632487/Techreport.pdf. [Accessed: 08-Oct-2018].
- [80] Cornwall Council, "Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Landscape Character Study", 2018. [Online]. Available: www.cornwall.gov.uk/environment-and-planning/cornwalls-landscape/landscapecharacter-assessment/. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [81] W. E. Dramstad, M. S. Tveit, W. J. Fjellstad, and G. L. A. Fry, "Relationships between visual landscape preferences and map-based indicators of landscape structure", *Landsc. Urban*

Plan., vol. 78, no. 4, pp. 465–474, 2006.

- [82] Norsk institutt for skog og landskap, "Tilbakeblikk.no", 2018. [Online]. Available: www.tilbakeblikk.no/. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [83] G. Stokstad, W. Fjellstad, S. Eiter, and W. Dramstad, "3Q: Monitoring agricultural landscapes in Norway", 2017. [Online]. Available: https://brage.bibsys.no/xmlui/bitstream/handle/11250/2450256/NIBIO_POP_2017_3_19.pdf? sequence=2&isAllowed=y. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [84] Norwegian Institute of Bioeconomy Research, "Landscape Monitoring", 2018. [Online]. Available: www.nibio.no/en/about-eng/our-divisions/division-for-geography-and-statistics/landscapemonitoring. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [85] Finnish Environment Institute SYKE, "Publications", 2018. [Online]. Available: www.syke.fi/en-US/Publications. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [86] Environmental Administration, "Nationally valuable landscapes", 2018. [Online]. Available: www.ymparisto.fi/en-US/Nature/Landscapes/Nationally_valuable_landscapes. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [87] J. J. Galan Vivas, "Landscape Observatory explored the state of landscape planning in Finland", 2018. [Online]. Available: www.aalto.fi/news/landscape-observatory-explored-the-state-of-landscape-planning-infinland. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [88] J. J. Galan Vivas, "Towards a Landscape Observatory of Finland?", Conference LANDSCAPE OBSERVATORIES Landschappen Netherlands, 2017. [Online]. Available: www.landschapsobservatorium.nl/Uploaded_files/juanjo-galan.6c89b6.pdf. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [89] Landscape Observatory of Finland LOF, "The Landscape Observatory of Finland", 2018. [Online]. Available: www.landscapeobservatoryfinland.com/#. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [90] SYKE, "Welcome to explore the Finnish agricultural landscape!", 2014. [Online]. Available: www.muuttuvamaalaismaisema.fi/en/ . [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [91] Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences, "Evaluation of SLU's environmental monitoring and assessment programme Agricultural landscape", Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, 2016. [Online]. Available: www.slu.se/globalassets/ew/ew-centrala/miljo/ommiljoanalys/jordbrukslandskapsjalvvarderingutvardering2016.pdf. [Accessed: 09-Oct-2018].
- [92] G. Ståhl *et al.*, "National Inventory of Landscapes in Sweden (NILS) scope, design, and experiences from establishing a multiscale biodiversity monitoring system", *Environ. Monit. Assess.*, vol. 173, no. 1–4, pp. 579–595, 2011.
- [93] Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences SLU, "Agricultural landscape programme", 2018. [Online]. Available:

www.slu.se/en/environment/programmes/agricultural-landscape/. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].

- [94] K. Sepp, "The methodology and applications of Agricultural Landscape monitoring in Estonia", 2018. [Online]. Available: http://slideplayer.com/slide/3379183/. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [95] K. Sepp and M. Külvik, "European Landscape Convention approaches and solutions in Estonia", 2018. [Online]. Available: http://slideplayer.com/slide/2801469/. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [96] S. Mücher, "UAV supports Estonian Landscape Monitoring Programme", 2015. [Online].

Available:

www.wur.nl/en/newsarticle/UAV-supports-Estonian-Landscape-Monitoring-Programme.htm [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].

- [97] K. Sepp and A. Roose, "Monitoring Framework for Assessing Changes of the Estonian Rural Landscape in adopting European Agricultural Policies", *European Countryside*, 2010.
 [Online]. Available: www.degruyter.com/downloadpdf/j/euco.2010.2.issue-1/v10091-010-0004-6/v10091-010-0004-6.pdf. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [98] J. Roos-Klein Lankhorst, W. Nieuwenhuizen, P. J. F. M. Verweij, J. M. J. Farjon, A. J. M. Koomen, and T. J. Weijschede, "Kennismodel Effecten Landschap Kwaliteit KELK versie 2.0", 2013. [Online]. Available: www.landschapsobservatorium.nl/Uploaded_files/Zelf/kennismodeleffectenlandschapkwalite it.6a55fb.pdf. [Accessed: 08-Oct-2018].
- [99] G.-J. van Herwaarden, "Development of a National Landscape Observatory in the Netherlands", *International Conference on Landscape Observatories*, 2017. [Online]. Available: www.landschapsobservatorium.nl/Uploaded_files/gj-van-herwaarden.df00d7.pdf. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [100] LandschappenNL, "Landschapsobservatorium", 2018. [Online]. Available: www.landschapsobservatorium.nl/engels. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [101] V. Hess, "L'observatoire citoyen du paysage", Fédération Inter-Environnement Wallonie, 2011. [Online]. Available: www.iew.be/-Observatoire-citoyen-du-paysage [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [102] Inter-Environnement Wallonie iew, "Arrêts sur paysages... 2 ans de regards citoyens sur le cadre de vie", 2012. [Online]. Available: www.iew.be/IMG/pdf/livretok_ocp.pdf. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [103] L'observatoire citoyen du paysage en Région wallon, "Observatoire du paysage en Brabant wallon", 2013. [Online]. Available: www.paysagesdubrabantwallon.be/des_photographies_de_la_region_wallonne.shtml. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [104] V. Ayroles, "Observatoire photographique du paysage", *Der Greif online*, 2017. [Online]. Available: https://dergreif-online.de/artist-blog/observatoire-photographique-du-paysage/.
 [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [105] F. Mocquet, "L'Observatoire photographique national du paysage: archive rétrospective et prospective des territoires", *Livraisons d'Histoires de l'Architecture*, 2016. [Online]. Available: http://journals.openedition.org/lha/589. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [106] Observatoire photographique national du paysage, "Terra la Phototèque", 2018. [Online].
 Available: https://terra.developpement-durable.gouv.fr/observatoire-photo-paysage/home/.
 [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [107] F. Rosillon, "Valley landscape management: the context of a 'river contract' in the Semois valley, Belgium", *Taylor Francis Online*, 2007. [Online]. Available: www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/0142639042000289046. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [108] C. Guittet and L. Le Dû-Blayo, "Vers une meilleure intégration des Observatoires Photographiques du Paysage (OPP) dans la gouvernance territoriale : de l'OPP des experts à l'OPP des habitants?", *Revue Belge de Géographie Belgeo*, 2015. [Online]. Available: https://journals.openedition.org/belgeo/17585?lang=fr. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [109] Swiss Federal Institute for Forest Snow and Landscape Research WSL, "Landscape monitoring", 2018. [Online]. Available: www.wsl.ch/en/landscape/landscape-development-

and-monitoring/landscape-monitoring.html. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].

- [110] Bundesamt für Umwelt BAFU, "Landschaftsbeobachtung Schweiz (LABES)", 2017.
 [Online]. Available: www.bafu.admin.ch/bafu/de/home/themen/landschaft/zustand/landschaftsbeobachtung-schweiz---labes-.html. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [111] M. Agnoletti, "National Observatory of Rural Landscape", University of Florence, 2018.[Online]. Available:

www.landscapeunifi.it/en/national-observatory-of-rural-landscape. [Accessed: 09-Oct-2018].

- [112] C. Cassatella and F. Larcher, "Overview of Landscape Observatories in Europe", International Conference on Landscape Observatories, 2017. [Online]. Available: www.landschapsobservatorium.nl/Uploaded_files/casatella.b7eb5f.pdf. [Accessed: 08-Oct-2018].
- [113] A. Cavaliere, "Osservatori del paesaggio: una rete piemontese che nasce dal basso", 2010. [Online]. Available: www.greenews.info/rassegna-stampa/osservatori-del-paesaggio-unarete-piemontese-che-nasce-dal-basso-20100707/. [Accessed: 09-Oct-2018].
- [114] Osservatorio del Paesaggio per il Monferrato Casalese, "Coordinamento Osservatori Piemontesi", 2018. [Online]. Available: www.odpm.it/wp/attivita/coordinamento-osservatoripiemontesi/. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [115] M. Agnoletti, "Experiences with the National Observatory of Rural Landscape and the Regional Landscape Observatory of Tuscany", 2018. [Online]. Available: www.landschapsobservatorium.nl/Uploaded_files/agnolettiamersfoort.42e9ca.pdf. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [116] R. Oliveira and R. Mata Olmo, "The Landscape Observatory of Tagus River: Relevance of Transfroniter Cooperation between Spain and Portugal", 2015. [Online]. Available: https://rm.coe.int/168048d8cf. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [117] Centro de Formacao Orlando Ribeiro, "Projeto TEJO Paisagem Cultural", 2018. [Online]. Available: www.aprofgeo.org/moodle_cfpor/file.php/1/Projeto_TEJO.pdf. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [118] The Landscape Observatory of Catalonia, "Presentation: What is the Landscape Observatory", 2005. [Online]. Available: www.catpaisatge.net/eng/observatori.php. [Accessed: 09-Oct-2018].
- [119] Observatori del Paisatge, "Landscape Observatory", *Explanatory Brochure*, 2006. [Online]. Available: www.catpaisatge.net/fitxers/OBS_eng.pdf. [Accessed: 08-Oct-2018].
- [120] J. Bru, "Indicadors de paisatge Abstracts in English", *Observatori del Paisatge*, 2009.
 [Online]. Available: www.catpaisatge.net/fitxers/publicacions/indicadors/Resums_en_angles.pdf. [Accessed: 09-Oct-2018].
- [121] I. Santé, A. Fernández-Ríos, J. M. Tubío, F. García-Fernández, E. Farkova, and D. Miranda, "The Landscape Inventory of Galicia (NW Spain): GIS-web and public participation for landscape planning", *Landsc. Res.*, no. March 31, pp. 1–29, 2018.
- [122] The Landscape Observatory of Catalonia, "Publications from the Observatory Indicadors de paisatge. Reptes i perspectives", 2018. [Online]. Available: www.catpaisatge.net/eng/documentacio_plecs_ei_1.php. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [123] American University of Beirut, "Eastern Mediterranean Landscape Observatory", 2018. [Online]. Available: www.aub.edu.lb/fafs/ldem/emlo/Pages/default.aspx. [Accessed: 09-Oct-2018].
- [124] Nationalpark Berchtesgaden, "Nationalparkplan Berchtesgaden Übrige

Nationalparkfunktionen: Forschung und Umweltbeobachtung", 2001. [Online]. Available: www.nationalpark-

berchtesgaden.bayern.de/medien/publikationen/nationalparkplan/doc/forschung_und_umwelt beobachtung.pdf. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].

- [125] Nationalpark Berchtesgaden, "Nationalparkplan Berchtesgaden Regionalisierte Leitziele für den Nationalpark", 2001. [Online]. Available: www.nationalparkberchtesgaden.bayern.de/medien/publikationen/nationalparkplan/doc/regionalisierte_leitziele. pdf. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [126] Parc naturel régional du Doubs, "Observatoire du Paysage", 2018. [Online]. Available: www.parcdoubs.ch/fr/engagement/nature-paysage-et-education-alenvironnement/observatoire-du-paysage. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [127] Parc du Doubs and Parc Chasseral, "flyer parrains du paysage pour observatoire", 2017.
 [Online]. Available: www.parcdoubs.ch/upload/projects/flyer_parrains_du_paysage_pour_observatoire.pdf.
 [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [128] M. Bueno de Mesquita, "The Andean terraced landscape, a future with risks and opportunities", 2018. [Online]. Available: www.landschapsobservatorium.nl/Uploaded_files/ppt-mourik-conferencia-observatorio-epaisajes-def.c7c5fd.pdf. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [129] Rotorua Lakes Council, "Changes to Landscapes within the Lakes A Zone", 2013. [Online]. Available: www.rotorualakescouncil.nz/our-services/environment-andhealth/theenvironment/Pages/Changes-to-Landscapes-within-the-Lakes-A-Zone.aspx. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [130] Rotorua Lakes Council, "Indicators", 2014. [Online]. Available: www.rotorualakescouncil.nz/our-services/environment-andhealth/theenvironment/Pages/Indicators.aspx. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [131] eAtlas, "The Social and Economic Long-Term Monitoring Program (SELTMP) for the Great Barrier Reef", 2018. [Online]. Available: https://seltmp.eatlas.org.au/seltmp. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [132] Reef & Rainforest Research Centre, "Project 10.1 'Social and Economic Long Term Monitoring Programme (SELTMP)," 2012. [Online]. Available: www.nerptropical.edu.au/project/seltmp. [Accessed: 11-Oct-2018].
- [133] Observatorio del Paysaje de Canarias, "Publications", 2018. [Online]. Available: www.observatoriodelpaisajedecanarias.es/en/publicaciones.php?t=publicaciones. [Accessed: 08-Oct-2018].
- [134] ESLAND Project, "Concept and Goals", 2011. [Online]. Available: www.eslandproject.eu/index.php/goals-2. [Accessed: 08-Oct-2018].
- [135] Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA), "Quality of life counts. Indicators for a strategy for sustainable development for the United Kingdom. 2004 Update. Updating the baseline assessments made in 1999." National Statistics, London, 2004.
- [136] C. Swanwick, "Landscape Character Assessment Guidance for England and Scotland", Prepared for the Countryside Agency and Scottish Natural Heritage by Carys Swanwick., 2002.
- [137] S. Petit, "The dimensions of land use change in rural landscapes: Lessons learnt from the GB

Countryside Surveys", J. Environ. Manage., vol. 90, no. 9, pp. 2851–2856, 2009.

- [138] R. Haines-Young, T. Langanke, and M. Potschin, "Landscape character as a framework for the assessment of environmental change", in *Use of landscape sciences for the assessment of environmental security*, Springer, 2008, pp. 165–174.
- [139] A. I. T. Tulloch, H. P. Possingham, L. N. Joseph, J. Szabo, and T. G. Martin, "Realising the full potential of citizen science monitoring programs", *Biol. Conserv.*, vol. 165, pp. 128–138, 2013.
- [140] C. C. Conrad and K. G. Hilchey, "A review of citizen science and community-based environmental monitoring: issues and opportunities", *Environ. Monit. Assess.*, vol. 176, no. 1–4, pp. 273–291, 2011.
- [141] H. E. Roy *et al.*, "Understanding citizen science and environmental monitoring: final report on behalf of UK Environmental Observation Framework", NERC/Centre for Ecology & Hydrology, 2012.
- [142] G. Newman, A. Wiggins, A. Crall, E. Graham, S. Newman, and K. Crowston, "The future of sitizen science: Emerging technologies and shifting paradigms", *Front. Ecol. Environ.*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 298–304, 2012.
- [143] D. R. Richards, B. Tunçer, and B. Tunçer, "Using image recognition to automate assessment of cultural ecosystem services from social media photographs", *Ecosyst. Serv.*, vol. 31, pp. 318–325, Sep. 2018.
- [144] F. M. Wartmann, E. Acheson, and R. S. Purves, "Describing and comparing landscapes using tags, texts, and free lists: an interdisciplinary approach", *Int. J. Geogr. Inf. Sci.*, vol. 32, no. 8, pp. 1572–1592, Apr. 2018.
- [145] O. Chesnokova, M. Nowak, and R. S. Purves, "A crowdsourced model of landscape preference", in *LIPIcs-Leibniz International Proceedings in Informatics*, 2017, vol. 86, p. 19:1-19:13.
- [146] D. B. Van Berkel *et al.*, "Quantifying the visual-sensory landscape qualities that contribute to cultural ecosystem services using social media and LiDAR", *Ecosyst. Serv.*, vol. 31, pp. 326– 335, 2018.
- [147] S. J. Barry, "Using Social Media to Discover Public Values, Interests, and Perceptions about Cattle Grazing on Park Lands", *Environ. Manage.*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 454–464, 2014.
- [148] A. Dunkel, "Assessing the Perceived Environment Through Crowdsourced Spatial Photo Content for Application to the Fields of Landscape and Urban Planning." Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, 2016.
- [149] Y. Cho, S.-H. Ryu, B. R. Lee, K. H. Kim, E. Lee, and J. Choi, "Effects of artificial light at night on human health: A literature review of observational and experimental studies applied to exposure assessment", *Chronobiol. Int.*, vol. 32, no. 9, pp. 1294–1310, 2015.
- [150] K. J. Navara and R. J. Nelson, "The dark side of light at night: physiologcial, epidemiological and ecological consequences", *J. Pineal Res.*, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 215–224, 2007.
- [151] L. Claudio, "Switch on the night: Policies for smarter Lighting", *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 117, no. 1, p. A28, 2009.
- [152] P. Cinzano, F. Falchi, and C. D. Elvidge, "The first world atlas of the artificial night sky brightness", *Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc.*, vol. 328, no. 3, pp. 689–707, 2001.
- [153] T. Polak, C. Korine, S. Yair, and M. W. Holderied, "Differential effects of artificial lighting on flight and foraging behavior of two sympatric bat species in a desert", J. Zool., vol. 285, no. 1, pp. 21–27, 2011.
- [154] J. Rydell, J. Eklöf, and S. Sánchez-Navarro, "Age of enlightenment: long-term effects of

outdoor aesthetic lights on bats in churches", R. Soc. open Sci., vol. 4, no. 8, p. 161077, 2017.

- [155] D. Russo, L. Cistrone, N. Libralato, C. Korine, G. Jones, and L. Ancillotto, "Adverse effects of artificial illumination on bat drinking activity", *Anim. Conserv.*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 492– 501, 2017.
- [156] C. Azam *et al.*, "Evidence for distance and illuminance thresholds in the effects of artificial lighting on bat activity", *Landsc. Urban Plan.*, vol. 175, pp. 123–135, 2018.
- [157] J. Lorne and M. Salmon, "Effects of exposure to artificial lighting on orientation of hatchling sea turtles on the beach and in the ocean", *Endanger. Species Res.*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 23–30, 2007.
- [158] E. Silva *et al.*, "Light pollution affects nesting behavior of loggerhead turtles and predation risk of nests and hatchlings", *J. Photochem. Photobiol. B Biol.*, vol. 173, no. February, pp. 240–249, 2017.
- [159] Z. Hu, H. Hu, and Y. Huang, "Association between nighttime artificial light pollution and sea turtle nest density along Florida coast: A geospatial study using VIIRS remote sensing data", *Environ. Pollut.*, vol. 239, pp. 30–42, 2018.
- [160] R. Chepesiuk, "Missing the dark: health effects of light pollution", *Environ. Health Perspect.*, vol. 117, no. 1, p. A20, 2009.
- [161] T. Gallaway, R. N. Olsen, and D. M. Mitchell, "The economics of global light pollution", *Ecol. Econ.*, vol. 69, no. 3, pp. 658–665, 2010.
- [162] P. Zumthor, I. Beer, and J. Mathieu, Wieviel Licht braucht der Mensch, um leben zu können, und wieviel Dunkelheit?/ Di quanta luce ha bisogno l'uomo per vivere e di quanta oscurità? Zurich and Bologna: vdf-Hochschulverlag and Editrice Compositori, 2005.
- [163] A. Farina and N. Pieretti, "The soundscape ecology: A new frontier of landscape research and its application to islands and coastal systems", J. Mar. Isl. Cult., vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 21–26, 2012.
- [164] G. R. Watts and R. J. Pheasant, "Tranquillity in the Scottish Highlands and Dartmoor National Park - The importance of soundscapes and emotional factors", *Appl. Acoust.*, vol. 89, pp. 297–305, Mar. 2015.
- [165] G. R. Watts and R. J. Pheasant, "Factors affecting tranquillity in the countryside", *Appl. Acoust.*, vol. 74, no. 9, pp. 1094–1103, 2013.
- [166] O. Chesnokova and R. S. Purves, "From image descriptions to perceived sounds and sources in landscape: Analyzing aural experience through text", *Appl. Geogr.*, vol. 93, pp. 103–111, 2018.
- [167] C. M. Raymond, G. Brown, and D. Weber, "The measurement of place attachment: Personal, community, and environmental connections", *J. Environ. Psychol.*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 422– 434, 2010.
- [168] C. M. Raymond, M. Kyttä, and R. Stedman, "Sense of Place, Fast and Slow: The Potential Contributions of Affordance Theory to Sense of Place", *Front. Psychol.*, vol. 8, Sep. 2017.
- [169] S. Egoz and A. De Nardi, "Defining landscape justice: the role of landscape in supporting wellbeing of migrants, a literature review", *Landsc. Res.*, vol. 42, no. sup1, pp. S74–S89, 2017.
- [170] N. Neuenschwander, U. W. Hayek, and A. Grêt-Regamey, "Integrated multi-criteria modeling and 3D visualisation for informed trade-off decision making on urban development options", in *The 30th International Conference on Education and research in Computer Aided Architectural Design in Europe (eCAADe 2012)*, 2012.
- [171] G. Donaldson-Selby et al., "Testing Public Preferences for Future Land Uses and

Landscapes", in *Proceedings of the GIS Research UK 20th Annual Conference*, 2012, pp. 139–144.

- [172] J. Wu, A. Buyantuyev, G. D. Jenerette, J. Litteral, K. Neil, and W. Shen, "Quantifying Spatiotemporal Patterns and Ecological Effects of Urbanization: A Multiscale Landscape Approach", *Appl. Urban Ecol.*, pp. 33–53, 2011.
- [173] C. Dietzel, ,H. Oguz, J. J. Hemphill, K. C. Clarke, and N. Gazulis, "Diffusion and coalescence of the Houston Metropolitan Area: evidence supporting a new urban theory", *Environ. Plan. B Plan. Des.*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 231–246, 2005.

Web resources of the European Landscape Convention:

19th Council of Europe Meeting of the Workshops for the implementation of the European Landscape Convention, "*The implementation of the European Landscape Convention at local level: local democracy*", Brno, Czech Republic, 5-6 September 2017. www.coe.int/en/web/landscape/19th

18th Council of Europe Meeting of the Workshops for the implementation of the European Landscape Convention, "National policies for the implementation of the European Landscape Convention: challenges and opportunities", Yerevan, Armenia, 5-6 October 2016. www.coe.int/en/web/landscape/18th

16th Council of Europe Meeting of the Workshops for the implementation of the European Landscape Convention, "*Landscapes and transfrontier co-operation: Landscape knows no border*", Andorra la Vella, Andorra, 1-2 October 2015.

www.coe.int/en/web/landscape/16 th-council-of-europe-meeting-of-the-work shops-for-the-implementation-of-the-european-landscape-convention

13th Council of Europe Meeting of the Workshops for the implementation of the European Landscape Convention, "Territories of the future: landscape identification and assessment, an exercise in democracy"

www.coe.int/en/web/landscape/thirteenth-council-of-europe-meeting-of-the-workshops-for-the-implementation-of-the-european-landscape-convention

16th International CEMAT Symposium and 12th Council of Europe Meeting of the Workshops for the implementation of the European Landscape Convention, "Vision for the future of Europe on territorial democracy: Landscape as a new strategy for spatial planning"

www.coe.int/en/web/landscape/twelfth-council-of-europe-meeting-of-the-workshops-for-the-implementation-of-the-european-landscape-convention

Appendix

The experiences from the Swiss Landscape Monitoring Programme,

an indicator-driven monitoring programme of physical and perceived landscapes

The Swiss landscape monitoring programme (Landschaftsbeobachtung Schweiz or LABES) is a national monitoring programme that measures physical landscape properties as well as their perception by the local population. It meets many of the desired criteria and success factors listed in this report, such as representativeness, linking physical and experienced landscape properties and official endorsement by a government agency.

Although tested and applied in Switzerland, a country with high landscape awareness in the population, the LABES concept, or at least some part of it, could be applied in other countries. There may however be limits to the transferability of its concepts, which would be very interesting to examine.

References:

Kienast, F., Frick, J., van Strien, M. J., & Hunziker, M. (2015). The Swiss Landscape Monitoring Programme – A comprehensive indicator set to measure landscape change. Ecological Modelling, 295, 136–150.

Project reports from the Federal Ministry of the Environment (FOEN) and the Federal Research Institute for Forest, Snow and Landscape (WSL):

– FOEN and WSL. (2017). Wandel der Landschaft. Erkenntnisse aus dem Monitoring programme Landschaftsbeobachtung Schweiz (LABES). Berne. Retrieved from www.bafu.admin.ch/dam/bafu/de/dokumente/landschaft/uz-umwelt-zustand/wandel-der-landschaft.pdf.download.pdf/UZ-1641-D.pdf

FOEN and WSL. (2013). Neue Ansätze zur Erfassung der Landschaftsqualität.
 Zwischenbericht Landschaftsbeobachtung Schweiz (LABES). Berne. Retrieved from www.bafu.admin.ch/bafu/de/home/themen/landschaft/publikationen-studien/publikationen/neue-ansaetze-zur-erfassung-der-landschaftsqualitaet.html

*

The systematic monitoring is based on the following landscape concepts.

- pattern and process paradigms in landscape ecology [5];
- disturbance theories in ecology;
- ecosystem services;
- perception theories (evolutionary and culturally-driven concepts);
- theories of place attachment;
- theories of the restorative environment;

- the centre-periphery concept in spatial planning;
- the driving force-pressure-state-impact-response framework DPSIR [67].

A.1 Indicators of the Swiss Landscape Monitoring

The full set of LABES indicators consists of: (1) indicators that can be derived from land cover data, satellite images, census statistics and digital maps and (2) indicators that are derived from surveying respondents' perceptions and place attachment in the resident community. Each indicator is used to measure a specific aspect of the Swiss landscape and is justified by one or more of the theoretical concepts listed above. Depending on the source, the indicators cover one to a maximum of five time intervals over a maximum of approximately 70 years. All indicators cover the whole of Switzerland or are a representative sample of the object of interest. More details about the temporal aspects are presented below:

- around 50% of the indicators (mainly physical and land-use indicators) cover a time range from the 1970s to the present, with two to four time intervals.
- around 20% of the indicators cover a time range from the 1990s to the present, with two to four time intervals.
- selected indicators cover longer time periods (1930s to the present for urban sprawl) or have an annual resolution (light emissions).
- perception and place attachment indicators (around 30% of the indicators) had their first assessment in 2011, with the next assessment planned for 2020.

Most of the indicators for the physical landscape and land use (Table A1) are self-explanatory. The perception/place attachment indicators have been gathered into a standardised questionnaire that was sent out to a representative sample of 8,700 households in three languages (German/French/Italian).² A total of 2,814 questionnaires were returned, which amounts to a return rate of 35%.

All respondents were instructed to base their statements on the landscape and places of their current home municipality. In addition, respondents were asked to indicate how important each landscape assessment concept, (e.g., legibility or aesthetic beauty) is to them with respect to their home municipality. The statements had been previously tested for scale reliability and validity in an extensive pretest. The assessment is fully based on people's mental images of places in their home municipality and not based on photographs, video sequences or hand-drawn sketches. This conceptual decision to work without visualisations is worth discussing here. The merits of using visualisations in planning and design have been documented in the literature [170], [171]. They have great potential for use in local planning where the photographs or videos match the local context. For a national survey, however, this would mean that a high number of locally adapted questionnaires, with hundreds of local visualisations, would have to be generated. This is by no means financially feasible and would add unpredictable noise to the data. It was therefore decided to use perception

^{2.} The selection of households followed the concept of stratified random sampling, each canton of Switzerland (equivalent to a federal state) representing a stratum with at least 300 questionnaires sent out. With this sampling strategy, we reached a relatively even spatial distribution of respondents at the national level. Within each canton, however, the random selection procedure selects respondents based on the population density; hence, the resulting spatial pattern resembles the pattern of towns and villages. The stratified random sampling follows the principles of the federal state, i.e., giving equal weight to each canton and at the same time, giving enough weight to the densely populated areas. For the analysis, answers were weighted according to the unit of interest (nation, canton, or district).

parameters that are independent of visualisations.

Table A1:The full set of landscape indicators, corresponding to DPSIR (D = driver,P = pressure, S = state, I = impact, R = response), spatial resolution and data sources.

Physical properties and land-use related		DPSIR	Spatial	Data
characteristics			resolution	sources*
	general			
SETTLE	Settlement area	Р	100 m grid	a
QUAL_RESI	Landscape quality in the residential	Ι	Municipality	
DENTIAL	area			
IMPERV	Impervious area	Р	100 m grid	a, d
LOW_INT	Area with low management	Р	100 m grid	a, e, g
	intensity		-	
NO_INF	Area without buildings and	S	500 m grid	c1
FEW_INF	infrastructure			
	Area with a few buildings and			
	infrastructure			
FRAG_LARG	Landscape fragmentation (2 classes	S	Polygon	c1, g
E_RD	of road widths)		District	
FRAG_SMAL			(m _{eff})	
L_RD				
URB_PERM	Urban permeation, urban sprawl	S	District	c1, c2, c3,
				f2, f3
CENT_PRIV	Travel time to central services			
CENT_PUBL	(public & private transportation)			
IC				
LIGHT_E	Light emissions	Ι	1 km grid	d
	Recreational use			
RECR	Accessibility of near-by recreation	S	25 m grid	b, c1, h
RECR_DIST	areas			
RECR_DIST_	(independent of distance to			
POP	settlements; distance-weighted;			
	distance & population weighed)			
HIKE	Availability of hiking trails	S	Line feature	c1, i
ACCESS_RI	Rivers with public access	S	500 m grid	c1, h
V				
FEW_INF_R	Area with a low density of buildings	Р	100 m grid	a
ECR	and infrastructure suitable for			
	recreation			
	Agricultural and forestry use			
AGRI_CHAN	Change in agricultural area	Р	100 m grid	a, f1
GE				
AGRI_DIV	Diversity of agricultural use	Р	Municipality	f1
FOREST_CH	Change in forested area	Р		b

ANGE							
FOREST_ED	Length of forest edge	Р		b			
GE							
LOW_INT_F	Area of low-intensity forest use	Р	1.4 km (NFI-	e			
OREST) grid				
ALP_PAST	Alpine pastures	Р	100 m grid	a			
	Landscape perception						
CPLX	Perceived landscape structure	S	Municipality	h			
COHE	(information content)						
MYST	Complexity, Coherence, Mystery,						
LEGI	Legibility						
PLACE	Place attachment	Ι	Municipality	h			
DIST	Distinctiveness of the landscape	Ι	Municipality	h			
CONT	(character and reference to the past)						
AUTH	Authenticity	Ι	Municipality	h			
FASC	Fascination	Ι	Municipality	h			
BEAU	Perceived landscape beauty	Ι	Municipality	h			
	Legal aspects of landscape conservation						
CONSERV_A	Federal landscape- and nature	R	Polygon	g			
REA	conservation areas		feature				
REGIONAL_	Regional parks of national	R	Polygon				
PARKS	importance		feature				

* Data sources:

a = Arealstatistik (BFS, 2005)

b = digital topographic map 2011 (VBS, 2013)

c1, c2, c3 = digital topographic map 2007 (Swisstopo, 2007), map 1:100'000, map Dufour 1:100'000 d = remote sensing (DMSP, 1994-2009)

e = National Forest Inventory (SZF, 2011)

f1, f2, f3 = agricultural census (Landwirtschaftliche Betriebsstrukturerhebung), census of enterprises, population census

g = national inventories

h = public questionnaire

 $i = Federal \ offices$

k = map ecomorphology water

A.2 Use of the indicators

The use of the indicators presents advantages and disadvantages, as described below.

Advantages

LABES is a systematic national landscape monitoring programme with a set of tested indicators that are able to measure both the physical and sociocultural aspects of landscape quality. Most of the benchmarks mentioned in this report could be met with the current selection, i.e., the set proved to be comprehensive and representative for Switzerland and yielding a national coverage of physical

landscape properties and their changes. In parallel, how local residents perceive the landscape in their municipality in terms of its beauty, fascination or authenticity is monitored, which may be considered an important milestone in landscape monitoring. Analysis of the data showed that this indicator set is capable of picking up a dominant urban-rural gradient in the data, as described by, e.g., Wu et al. [172] or Dietzel [173]. In Switzerland, the urban-rural gradient is caused by a highly mobile and leisure-oriented urban society, with an increasing per capita consumption of space for housing and transportation and at the same time, a desire for high-quality recreation areas around settlements and authentic and 'natural' landscapes in the countryside. Research is ongoing to develop landscape models that link physical landscape properties with landscape appreciation values.

Data availability

Due to the fact that the data are predominantly derived from land-use surveys, topographical maps or census products, data availability for the last decades and the future is ensured. If possible, data stemming from non-repeated surveys or data collection efforts should be used with caution, as repeated measurements are absolutely essential for a reliable assessment. This problem was experienced with, e.g., the eco-morphological assessment of rivers and streams, which will probably not be updated in the near future due to financial constraints.

As far as data availability for the questionnaires about landscape perception is concerned, the Swiss landscape monitoring programme has gathered only the first time step to date. As this data set is so far the only one, and because it is collected exclusively for this landscape monitoring programme, it is expected that the survey will be repeated every eight to 10 years, albeit with higher target numbers of respondents, to reach the spatial detail required for downscaling of the indicators (see below).

Periodically revised indicator set

The quality of this monitoring activity is maintained by periodically reviewing the topics and indicators and the concepts/methods used. A review will take place between 2018 and 2019, so that a new time step can be worked out in 2020. Thematically, there are emerging landscape topics that have not been covered by the current indicator set. These include the topic of sustainable energy production, which will considerably influence the visual aspects of landscapes, (e.g., wind energy, power-line grids), or the topic of landscape and health, which is only partially covered by the indicators on recreation. New methods will include analysis of novel emerging data sources, such as social media, to establish complementary information about place attachment and landscape perception. Other novel data sources include spatially and temporally high-resolution satellite data for capturing intra-annual land-use dynamics for agricultural land.

Disadvantages

For the advocates of comprehensive narrative monitoring, LABES is too little driven by art- and action-oriented approaches and does not include any qualitative descriptors of landscape. Furthermore, it has the problem that a synthetic view of the landscape from the perspective of many individual indicators is difficult to achieve. LABES does not focus (for the time being) on citizen science and is not expected to use data from social media until 2020.

Still awaiting selection of a core set of indicators

LABES comprises a selection of indicators that is based on literature surveys, statistical considerations and expert knowledge. It became obvious that 30-40 indicators are the upper limit of what national surveys are capable of maintaining (due to costs, expertise, data maintenance, etc.). Thus, it would be important to prioritise the indicator set using so-called 'umbrella' indicators that are able to capture many aspects of the development of landscapes, together with indicators that allow specific assessments. In a correlation analysis, it was shown that the monitoring could be done at reduced costs with roughly two thirds of the full set of indicators [11]. This is not to say that the full set is not needed, but in the event of strong financial cuts the reduced set is a minimum set which contains a high, yet reduced, informational content and which could assure the maintenance of an absolute minimum of indicators allowing time-series analysis of landscape change in Switzerland. One of these indispensable indicators is the indicator of light emissions. Due to the high spatial and temporal resolution of the data and the high correlation with many land-use and perception indicators, it is one of the umbrella indicators with the highest relevance. It has been shown, for example, how light emissions in Switzerland have risen in the past, and how the area of complete darkness has diminished, particularly on the Swiss Plateau and in the Jura Mountains. This is consistent with the information from other indicators, (e.g., areas free of buildings and infrastructure) and marks a considerable loss of 'naturalness' in Switzerland.

*